UC San Diego UC San Diego Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Higher-order VCO-based ADCs for Sensor Interfaces

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/21s163k4

Author

Pochet, Corentin

Publication Date

2024

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA SAN DIEGO

Higher-order VCO-based ADCs

for Sensor Interfaces

A Dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements

for the degree Doctor of Philosophy

in

Electrical Engineering (Medical Devices and Systems)

by

Corentin Pochet

Committee in charge:

Professor Drew A. Hall, Chair Professor Gert Cauwenberghs Professor Ian Galton Professor Patrick P. Mercier Professor Truong Nguyen

2024

Copyright

Corentin Pochet, 2024

All rights reserved.

The Dissertation of Corentin Pochet is approved and is acceptable in quality and form for publication on microfilm and electronically.

University of California San Diego

2024

EPIGRAPH

The clearest way into the Universe is through a forest wilderness.

– John Muir

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| DISSERTATI | ON APPROVAL PAGEiii |
|-------------|---|
| EPIGRAPH | iv |
| TABLE OF C | ONTENTS v |
| LIST OF FIG | URESvii |
| LIST OF TAE | BLES xi |
| ACKNOWLE | DGEMENTS xii |
| VITA | |
| PUBLICATIO | DNS xv |
| ABSTRACT | OF THE DISSERTATIONxvii |
| CHAPTER 1: | INTRODUCTION 1 |
| 1.1 | Motivation: A scaling problem1 |
| 1.2 | Time-domain signal processing |
| 1.3 | High dynamic range time-based ADCs for sensor applications2 |
| 1.4 | Dissertation organization |
| CHAPTER 2: | TIME-BASED ANALOG-TO-DIGITAL CONVERTERS 4 |
| 2.1 | Basic operation of VCO-based integrators |

| 2.2 | Quantizer implementations |
|------------|--|
| 2.3 | XOR-based FDC |
| 2.4 | Counter-based FDC7 |
| 2.5 | Properties of VCO-based ADCs |
| 2.6 | VCO-based sensor front-end: Review of the prior-art |
| CHAPTER 3 | : A SECOND ORDER VCO-BASED DIRECT-DIGITIZATION EXG |
| FRONTEND. | |
| 3.2 | Architecture |
| 3.3 | Circuit Implementation |
| 3.4 | Measurement Results |
| 3.5 | Conclusion |
| CHAPTER 4: | THIRD ORDER VCO-BASED DIRECT-DIGITIZATION |
| 4.2 | Loop Filter Design |
| 4.3 | Circuit Design |
| 4.4 | Measurement Results |
| 4.5 | Conclusion |
| CHAPTER 5 | : Summary 68 |
| 5.2 | Evolution of the VCO-based ADCs throughout this work |
| 5.3 | Areas of future work |
| REFERENCE | S |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 2.1. Circuit block diagram of a VCO-based integrator |
|--|
| Figure 2.2. Schematics of an (a) XOR-based FDC and (b) Counter-based FDC7 |
| Figure 2.3. (a) Open-loop VCO-based ADC, (b) s-domain block diagram |
| Figure 2.4. Direct digitization VCO-based sensor front-end architectures: (a) Open-loop |
| with digital correction, (b) Closed-loop ac-coupled, (c) Hybrid dc-coupled, (d) DPCM- |
| based, and (e) Proposed 2 nd -order multi-phase quantizer |
| Figure 3.1. ExG signal acquisition systems |
| Figure 3.2. (a) Simplified single-ended ADC diagram and node waveforms (b) ADC's |
| block diagram |
| Figure 3.3. (a) Block diagram of mismatch induced non-linearity in a dual-path TDC. |
| (b) Simulated SFDR as a function of path mismatch 19 |
| Figure 3.4. (a) GIRO and sign detection circuit with timing diagram, and (c) Monte Carlo |
| simulation results comparing a GRO and GIRO |
| Figure 3.5. (a) Multi-quantizer based TDC ($N = 3$); (b) Time and frequency domain |
| operation of the constructive and destructive summing |
| Figure 3.6. (a) SQDR vs N, (b) Power vs. N, and (c) SFDR improvement vs. N 23 |
| Figure 3.7. ADC architecture |

| Figure 3.8. Schematic of the chopped G _m | 26 |
|---|-----|
| Figure 3.9. Schematic of the GIRO 2 | 27 |
| Figure 3.10. Die micrograph 2 | 29 |
| Figure 3.11. Measured ADC output spectrum | 29 |
| Figure 3.12. Measured ADC SFDR for 5 devices | ;0 |
| Figure 3.13. Measured ADC SNDR over its bandwidth | ;0 |
| Figure 3.14. Measured ADC input-referred noise spectrum | ;1 |
| Figure 3.15. Measured SNDR and power vs. input amplitude | ;1 |
| Figure 3.16. Measured intermodulation distortion (IMD) | \$2 |
| Figure 3.17. Measured common-mode rejection ratio (CMRR) with a 200 mVp | p |
| (orange) and a 400 mVpp (blue) common-mode input | \$2 |
| Figure 3.18. Square wave and sinusoid combined | 3 |
| Figure 3.19. Measured input impedance with and without impedance boosting | 3 |
| Figure 3.20. ExG measurements: (a) ECG, (b) EOG, and (c) EMG | ;4 |
| Figure 4.1. Capacitively coupled VCO-based ADC, highlighting advances an | d |
| challenges of VCO-based ADCs and the proposed PVG FF technique | ;9 |

| Figure 4.2. Comparison of (a) CIFB, (b) CIFB w/ FF, and (c) the proposed CIFB w/ $$ |
|---|
| PVG FF architectures. (d) Respective output spectra of each architecture |
| Figure 4.3. Block diagram of a VCO-based PVG-FF architecture |
| Figure 4.4. (a) ADC's scaled output for an $OBG = 1.25$ and $OBG = 4.5$; (b) PVG swing |
| as a function of the OBG 45 |
| Figure 4.5. SQNR vs. the OBG for an ideal and nonlinear 1 st stage |
| Figure 4.6. Block diagram of (a) frequency-domain and (b) phase-domain quantizers.47 |
| Figure 4.7. SQNR vs. the CCO frequency normalized to the sampling frequency 48 |
| Figure 4.8. Block diagram of the proposed architecture and key coefficients 50 |
| Figure 4.9. Schematic of the input transconductor with dead band switch |
| Figure 4.10. Schematic of the second and third integrator transconductors |
| Figure 4.11. Simulated (a) voltage and (b) current transient waveforms with and without |
| the replica circuit |
| Figure 4.12. Schematic of the current-controlled oscillator and phase frequency detector. |
| |
| Figure 4.13. Annotated chip micrograph |
| Figure 4.14. (a) Power, (b) noise power, and (c) area distributions |

| Figure 4.15. Measured ADC (a) spectrum with DEM, (b) spectrum without DEM, and |
|---|
| (c) dynamic range |
| Figure 4.16. Measured ADC SNDR across its bandwidth |
| Figure 4.17. Harmonic distortion (HD2 and HD3) as a function of frequency |
| Figure 4.18. Measured intermodulation distortion |
| Figure 4.19. Measured alias rejection with a -33 dBFS input tone around f_{s} |
| Figure 4.20. Measured ADC (a) PSRR and (b) CMRR |
| Figure 4.21. Measured ADC SNDR across analog supply voltage |
| Figure 4.22. Measured SNDR and SFDR ($n = 6$ devices) |
| Figure 4.23. Measured SNR (blue) and SFDR (orange) as a function of temperature and |
| simulated SFDR of chopping switch (orange dash) |
| Figure 4.24. Measured output spectra with no input at 0, 20, and 70 °C 64 |
| Figure 4.25. State-of-the-art landscape |
| Figure 5.1. State-of-the-art landscape in (a) 2016 and (b) 2022 69 |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 3.1. | Performance summary and comparison to the state-of-the-art | 35 |
|------------|--|----|
| | | |
| Table 4.1 | Performance summary and comparison to the state-of-the-art | 65 |

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

When I joined the University of California San Diego as a Master's student in 2016, I was excited and just as nervous about what lay ahead. I moved to the US for a Masters degree in Medical Devices and Systems with the goal of transitioning to a Ph.D. to research and explore ways devices could be miniaturized and open new opportunities in medical diagnostics and monitoring. Six years later, as this chapter of my life closes, I can confidently say that I could not have been prouder of what I accomplished at the University of California San Diego. I was able to carry out impactful research and explore the field of bioelectronics, and I also met wonderful friends and colleagues and made connections that I will cherish for the rest of my life.

First, I would like to thank my Ph.D. advisor, Drew Hall. His guidance and support were key in developing my research, writing, and presentation skills. His excitement for research, attention to detail, and passion for teaching are all qualities that shone throughout his mentorship, which I will do my best to emulate in all my future endeavors. Second, I would like to thank my committee members for their support, discussions, and the high quality of the courses they teach at UCSD, which were key to the success of my research and my development as an analog designer. I would also like to thank the BioEE research group; the group members, both old and new, were a constant source of inspiration and fun. Thanks to all of you for being so supportive and always ready to help. A particular thank you to Da Ying, Aditi Jain and Michael Sveiven for being such good friends on top of great coworkers.

The papers that resulted from my research and this thesis would also not have been possible without the support of numerous collaborators. I would like to address a special thank you to Jiannan Huang, Aditi Jain, Haowei Jiang, Xiahan Zhou, Po-Han Wang, Li Gao, Prof. Mercier, and Prof. Rebeiz for their participation in my research projects. I would also thank the Belgian American Educational Foundation (BAEF) for supporting my research during the first year of my PhD and in particular Dr. Kristin Bartik for the time and effort she put in helping me with my application.

My friends in San Diego and in Belgium were a key part of this journey. They were always there for me and together we created some unforgettable memories. I would like to first and foremost thank my "Coffee buddies" Lennart and Kyle; our daily coffees were a constant source of fun and kept me sane during the tapeout rushes. My roommates and friends Austin, Nima, Ray, Ashish, Hossein, Olcay, Luke, Krisi and the many others, thank you for all the trips, concerts, surf sessions and fests. Thank you also to all my Belgian friends and in particular Hugo, Victor, Dylan, Laurent, Rodolphe, Margaux and Lola for remaining among my closest friends despite the years and the distance.

I would also like to address a special thank you to my brother Lucas, my mother Isabelle and my father Philippe for their unwavering support. Through every phase of this journey, you've been there, cheering me on through accomplishments and offering invaluable advice and encouragement during times of uncertainty.

Finally, I would like to thank my fiancé, Viona Deconinck, for all the laughs, adventures, and support throughout the past 6 years. Your influence was indispensable in bringing this thesis to completion, and your continuous motivation propelled me forward every step of the way. I love you and I look forward to a lifetime of excitement and discovery with you as we embark on our life in Europe.

Chapter 2 is adapted from a book chapter: Pochet, C., Hall, D.A. (2023). VCO-Based ADCs for Direct Digitization of ExG Signals. In: Harpe, P., Baschirotto, A., Makinwa, K.A.

(eds) Biomedical Electronics, Noise Shaping ADCs, and Frequency References. Springer. The dissertation author was the primary researcher and author of this chapter.

Chapter 3 is based on the material in C. Pochet, J. Huang, P. P. Mercier, and D. A. Hall, "A 174.7-dB FoM, 2nd-order VCO-based ExG-to-Digital Front-End Using a Multi-phase Gated-Inverted Ring Oscillator Quantizer," *2021 IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Circuits and Systems*. The dissertation author was the primary investigator and author of this paper.

Chapter 4 is based on the material in C. Pochet and D. A. Hall, "A pseudo-virtual ground feedforwarding technique enabling linearization and higher-order noise shaping in VCO-based $\Delta\Sigma$ modulators," *2022 IEEE Journal of Solid- State Circuits Conference (JSCC)*. The dissertation author was the primary investigator and author of this paper.

VITA

- 2014 Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering, Université Libre de Bruxelles
- 2016 Master of Science in Electrical Engineering, Université Libre de Bruxelles & Vrij Universiteit Brussels
- 2024 Doctor of Philosophy in Electrical Engineering (Medical Devices and Systems), University of California San Diego

PUBLICATIONS

A. Jain, E. Fogleman, P. Botros, R. Vatsyayan, C. Pochet, A. Bourhis, Z. Liu, S. Chethan, H. Le, I. Galton, S. Dayeh, and D. A. Hall, "A 2.5-20kSps in-pixel direct digitization front-end for ECoG with in-stimulation recording," *IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC)*, To Appear.

C. Pochet and D. A. Hall, "A Pseudo-Virtual Ground Feedforwarding Technique Enabling Linearization and Higher Order Noise Shaping in VCO-Based $\Delta\Sigma$ Modulators," in *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 57, no. 12, pp. 3746-3756, Dec. 2022, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2022.3202040.

C. Pochet and D. A. Hall, " A 4.4μW 2.5kHz-BW 92.1dB-SNDR 3rd-Order VCO-Based ADC with Pseudo Virtual Ground Feedforward Linearization," *2022 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC)*, San Francisco, CA, USA, 2022, pp. 408-410, doi: 10.1109/ISSCC42614.2022.9731549.

C. Pochet, J. Huang, P. P. Mercier, and D. A. Hall, " A 174.7-dB FoM, 2nd-order VCObased ExG-to-Digital Front-End Using a Multi-phase Gated-Inverted Ring Oscillator Quantizer," in IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Circuits and Systems, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 1283-1294, Dec. 2021, doi: 10.1109/TBCAS.2021.3133531.

A. Jain, H. Jiang, C. Pochet, and D. A. Hall, "A 310 nW Temperature Sensor Achieving 9.8 mK Resolution using a DFLL-based Readout Circuit," in *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems II: Express Briefs*, doi: 10.1109/TCSII.2021.3106265

C. Pochet, H. Jiang and D. A. Hall, "Ultra-Low Leakage ESD Protection Achieving 10.5 fA Leakage," *2021 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS)*, 2021, pp. 1-5, doi: 10.1109/ISCAS51556.2021.9401369.

C. Pochet, J. Huang, P. P. Mercier, and D. A. Hall, "28.4 A 400mV_{pp} 92.3 dB-SNDR 1kHz-BW 2nd-Order VCO-Based ExG-to-Digital Front-End Using a Multiphase Gated-Inverted Ring-Oscillator Quantizer," *2021 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference (ISSCC)*, 2021, pp. 392-394, doi: 10.1109/ISSCC42613.2021.9365985.

X. Zhou, E. Mai, M. Sveiven, C. Pochet, H. Jiang, C. Huang, and D. A. Hall, "A 9.7nT_{rms}, 704-ms Magnetic Biosensor Front-End for Detecting Magneto-Relaxation," in *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits (JSSC)*, vol. 56, no. 7, pp. 2171-2181, July 2021, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2020.3043669.

H. Jiang, P. P. Wang, L. Gao, C. Pochet, G. M. Rebeiz, D. A. Hall, and P. P. Mercier, "A 22.3-nW, 4.55 cm² Temperature-Robust Wake-Up Receiver Achieving a Sensitivity of -69.5 dBm at 9 GHz," in *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits (JSSC)*, vol. 55, no. 6, pp. 1530-1541, June 2020, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2019.2948812.

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Higher-order VCO-based ADCs for sensor interfaces

by

Corentin Pochet

Doctor of Philosophy in Electrical Engineering (Medical devices and systems)

University of California San Diego, 2024

Professor Drew A. Hall, Chair

The rapid proliferation of Internet of Things (IoT) devices has revolutionized the technological landscape, permeating various domains and significantly impacting how we xvii

interact with the digital and physical realms. As everyday objects become imbued with the capability to collect, manipulate, and acquire data autonomously. Smart distributed sensor networks are formed and are expected to allow transformative changes in sectors such as healthcare, industrial production, and agriculture by allowing continuous monitoring and data-supported decision-making, improving outcomes and efficiency.

The design of these highly advanced sensor nodes presents challenges as they must be extremely power efficient to allow for continuous long-term monitoring with a small battery or energy harvester to ensure unobtrusive form factors. A key component to reducing the power consumption and allowing large-scale deployment of IoT sensors is the use of on-device data processing, which reduces the data-transmission bandwidth, latency, and power consumption. This digital heavy preprocessing drives the system design towards selecting highly integrated system-on-chip (SoC) solutions that rely on the advanced process nodes for highly efficient operation of the digital core in charge of data processing at the sensor nodes. However, these advanced technologies do not scale as well for analog front-ends in charge of acquiring the sensor data as they do for digital signal processing with second-order effects significantly degrading key analog transistor parameters (gain, gate leakage, mismatches, etc.), making the design of high-performance analog circuits increasingly difficult. A lot of research has been dedicated to developing alternative architectures that are more resilient or even benefit from technology scaling. Among these architectures, voltage-controlled oscillator (VCO) based analog-to-digital converters (ADC) leverage digital-friendly ring oscillators to perform signal processing and quantization, providing highly scalable analog-to-digital interfaces.

These VCO-based ADCs have been mostly designed for high-speed applications with MHz of bandwidth but have started showing their potential for lower bandwidth sensor nodes thanks to their supply insensitivity, infinite DC gain, and compact area. However, many challenges are associated with designing high dynamic range (DR) ADCs using VCO-based integrators as they have limited intrinsic linearity and require a large oversampling ratio due to being limited to 1st-order noise shaping.

This dissertation presents several innovations at the circuit and architecture level that can increase the noise-shaping order of VCO-based ADCs and achieve outstanding linearity. These techniques were integrated into two prototype chips: 1) an ADC for the direct-digitization of biopotential signals and 2) a purpose sensor front-end ADC for ultra-low-power IoT nodes.

The first prototype is intended to be used for wearable continuous health monitoring. It was designed to interface directly with high-impedance recording electrodes and provide a wide dynamic range and linearity to absorb motion artifacts and correct them in the digital domain. The prototype ADC achieves 2^{nd} -order noise-shaping with high linearity and power efficiency using a novel Gated-inverted-ring-oscillator(GIIRO)-based time-to-digital converter and a multi-quantizer scheme. The ADC achieves a dynamic range greater than 90 dB and above 110 dB of linearity while consuming only 5.4 μ W of power. This corresponds to a Schreier Figure of Merit (FoM) of 174.7 dB, which was state-of-the-art for VCO-based ADCs at the time of publication.

The second prototype was developed by building upon the feedforwarding techniques commonly used in the standard voltage domain ADC architectures and applying them to capacitively coupled VCO-based ADCs. Using the pseudo-virtual ground (PVG) at the input of the VCO integrator and feeding it further down the loop, we showed that high linearity and higher-order noise-shaping shaping could be achieved extremely power-efficiently. The prototype achieved 3rd-order noise-shaping with a 92.1 dB SNDR and a peak linearity of 123

dB while consuming only 4.4 μ W. This led to a Schreier FoM of 179.6 dB, indicating how efficient the proposed structure is and showing comparable performance to standard voltage domain architectures.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Motivation: A scaling problem

The past decades have seen a tremendous increase in the use of electronic devices in our everyday lives. This increase has been largely fueled by the exponential shrinking of transistor feature size driven by Moore's law, allowing for more power-efficient and cost-efficient semiconductor production and enabling a range of new applications in industries such as healthcare, entertainment (virtual reality and augmented reality), and wearable/dispersible sensor nodes. The technology scaling that powers these advancements has been driven by reducing the feature size of transistors, thus increasing the density, yielding significant benefits in terms of cost, power efficiency, capabilities, and speed with each semiconductor generation. However, this reduction in feature size comes with its own set of challenges: 1) the supply has reduced from 3.3 V in the 330 nm process to less than 0.8 V in the latest sub-10 nm process, which has also caused a lowering of the supply voltage, lowering the headroom and thus the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR), 2) While the reduction in feature size has come with an increase in speed due to the reduction in intrinsic capacitance, it also has caused a reduction in intrinsic gain, a key parameter for analog design. 3) The reduction in minimum size also comes at the cost of higher variability, increased layout-dependent effects (LDE), and flicker (1/f) noise, which all affect the performance of analog blocks [1].

Despite these challenges, integrating analog and digital functions on the same die is beneficial economically and for system-level performance. In advanced system-on-chips, the boundary between the analog and digital worlds is starting to blur as digital cores rely on distributed on-chip sensors for performance optimization, and analog block performance is enhanced through digital calibration and/or correction. Therefore, enhancing the performance of analog building blocks (amplifiers, ADCs, etc.) in highly advanced nodes remains a key challenge and need for future applications.

1.2 Time-domain signal processing

Time-domain signal processing has been proposed as an alternative to address some challenges associated with technology scaling. The key concept is to convert voltage-domain signals to equivalent time-domain signals represented by varying pulse widths or phase differences. This encoding method is independent of the signal amplitude and can, therefore, leverage the transistors' increased speed and smaller feature size while being supply-agnostic, thus benefiting greatly from transistor scaling. Chapter 2 will delve deeper into this architecture, focusing on a key element of time-based architectures, the voltage-controlled oscillator (VCO). These VCO blocks convert variation in voltage at its input to variation in frequency and have been used in several prototypes to perform key analog functions such as amplification, filtering, or quantization of the input signal. However, achieving performance on par with their voltage counterpart remains challenging and has been mostly demonstrated at very high-speed speecs such as linearity and dynamic range, which are less of a concern. Whether this time-based architecture can compete with standard architectures in sub-100 kHz sensor applications with wide dynamic range and high linearity requirements remains to be seen.

1.3 High dynamic range time-based ADCs for sensor applications

The healthcare industry has been a driver for developing high-performance sensors. The past few decades have seen advancement in many biosensor applications, ranging from high-precision, high-density electrochemical sensors [2] to background noise-free magnetic biosensors

[3]. One of the main applications of interest is continuously monitoring biopotential signals, such as electrocardiograms, with wearable sensors [4]. These sensor nodes enable patients and healthcare professionals to access real-time, longitudinal health information for improved health monitoring and decision-making. Accurate wearable monitoring is challenging due to multiple factors: the wearable sensors must be small, low power, accurate and provide data even in the event of large variation such as sudden movements or a shock. These challenging specifications and the competitivity of the medical wearable sensor field make it an ideal case-study for the use of time-based ADCs for sensor applications and was chosen as the target for the prototypes presented in this thesis.

1.4 Dissertation organization

This thesis presents several techniques to achieve high precision and power efficient analog to digital conversion for sensing applications using time-domain signal processing. Chapter 2 describes the basics of time-domain processing and VCO-based ADCs. In Chapter 3, a 2nd-order VCO-based ADC enabling direct digitization of ExG signals is presented with the measurement of a prototype fabricated in a 65 nm CMOS process. The focus of Chapter 4 is on the design of a 3rd-order VCO-based ADC, which adapts the concept of feedforwarding that is popular in voltage domain architecture to time-domain architectures and shows that it can allow for very efficient digitization in a single loop. The theory of operation and the measurement results of a prototype fabricated in a 65 nm CMOS. Finally, Chapter 5 concludes the thesis with a summary of the work accomplished and discusses future research direction in the time-domain analog to digital conversion.

CHAPTER 2: TIME-BASED ANALOG-TO-DIGITAL CONVERTERS

2.1 Basic operation of VCO-based integrators

As mentioned in the introduction, VCO-based ADCs have been proposed as an alternative to standard voltage domain architecture, which suffers from the supply voltage and intrinsic gain reduction associated with advanced nodes. In this section, we will describe the operation of the VCO-based integrator, which is at the core of the time-based architectures presented later in this thesis.

As their name indicates, VCOs are a circuit architecture where the oscillation frequency, f_{VCO} , depends on an input voltage. The instantaneous frequency can be expressed as

$$f_{\rm VCO}(t) = K_{\rm VCO} v(t) \tag{2.1}$$

where K_{VCO} is the voltage-to-frequency gain in Hz/V and v(t) is the instantaneous input voltage. Equation (1) indicates that there is a proportional relationship between the oscillator frequency and the input voltage, but perhaps more interestingly, one can show that the relationship between the phase of the VCO and the input can be expressed as

$$\phi_{\rm VCO}(t) = \int_0^t 2\pi \, K_{\rm VCO} v(t) \tag{2.2}$$

where it is apparent that in the phase domain, the VCO can be used to perform the role of an integrator and thus provide high gain and enable analog signal processing. This integrator-like behavior is the key to using a VCO to replace analog-heavy amplifiers in many applications. In the past several decades, VCO-based integrators have leveraged this voltage-to-phase relationship to replace standard analog domain circuit blocks and perform functions such as amplification [5],



Figure 2.1. Circuit block diagram of a VCO-based integrator.

[6], voltage regulation [7], filtering [8], and analog-to-digital conversion [9]. The latter application is the focus of this chapter, where the phase integration properties of the VCO shown in equation (2.2) will be leveraged to replace the analog-heavy integrator in standard delta-sigma ADC architectures.

As shown in equation (2.2), the integrator gain is set by the open-loop parameter K_{VCO} , which will depend on the architecture and sizing of the oscillator; it is therefore important to be able to control this gain. A typical VCO-based integrator implementation is shown in Figure 2.1. The integrator is composed of a transconductor (G_m) that converts the input voltage to an output current, which is then used to drive two pseudo-differential current-controlled oscillators (CCO) composed of several inverter-like cells. The phase difference between the two oscillators, $\Delta \varphi$, can be extracted with a phase detector (PD), leading to a time-domain representation of the integrator's output value with longer pulses corresponding to a larger phase difference. One can easily show that for this architecture, the integrator gain, K_{int} , can be expressed as

$$K_{\rm int} = G_{\rm m} K_{\rm CCO} \ G_{\rm PD} \tag{2.3}$$

where $G_{\rm m}$ is the transconductance, $K_{\rm CCO}$ is the CCO gain in Hz/A, and $G_{\rm PD}$ is the phase detector gain, which will depend on the detector implementation. This equation is key to implementing the desired integrator gain and will be used in the design phase of the ADCs presented in this thesis.

2.2 Quantizer implementations

As discussed in the previous section, the VCO converts an input voltage to a frequency with a linear gain (Equation 2.1). Therefore, the quantizer of the VCO is often operated as a frequency-to-digital converter (FDC) to extract the input component in the digital domain. Two solutions have been popularized over the years with different complexity and properties, but they operate on the same principle: the phase difference of the VCO is sampled and differentiated to obtain the frequency and thus resolve the input signal. As explained later, this is also key to providing the noise-shaping property in a VCO-based ADC. The two main techniques to digitize the phase of the VCO are 1) an XOR-based FDC, where each node of the VCO is tapped, and 2) a counter connected to a single phase of the VCO. These techniques are illustrated in Figure 2.2, and the pros and cons are discussed next.

2.3 XOR-based FDC

The XOR-based FDC takes advantage of all the phases of the VCO. As shown in Figure 2.2(a), each node of the VCO is sampled and compared to the previous sample using an XOR gate. This enables the comparison of the phase between two samples and allows for the VCO frequency to be extracted. To avoid overflow, the designer must ensure that the VCO frequency, f_{vco} , is bounded by the sampling frequency fs such that $0.5f_s < f_{vco} < 1.5f_s$. If either of these bounds is exceeded, it will cause phase wrapping and an incorrect output. An advantage of the XOR-based FDC is that it can be shown to naturally provide Dynamic Weighted Averaging (DWA) [10] of the quantizer



Figure 2.2. Schematics of an (a) XOR-based FDC and (b) Counter-based FDC.

output such that any mismatch between the inverter stages is shaped and that if the output is used to drive a feedback DAC, it also shapes the DAC mismatch. The XOR-based FDC is very compact and efficient; however, it is complicated to implement more than a 4-bit quantizer due to the thermometer encoding leading to a rapidly increasing number of wires complicating the layout.

2.4 Counter-based FDC

The counter-based FDC, illustrated in Figure 2.2(b), operates by counting the number of VCO edges in a sampling period. The sampling clock is typically much slower than f_{cco} to achieve high accuracy, so multiple edges are counted each period. The phase is differentiated using the difference between the counter's end value after two sampling instances, and the input signal can be extracted. The counter does not need to be reset, and 2's complement arithmetic can be used to calculate the result of the subtraction between the two results if the system is designed such that only one wrap-around can occur by limiting the maximum VCO frequency. This counter-based technique is popular for large quantizers (>4-bit) and an area-efficient architecture as it allows for a small VCO due to the relaxed requirements on f_{vco} and the need for high-frequency operation. It



Figure 2.3. (a) Open-loop VCO-based ADC, (b) s-domain block diagram

should be noted that the counter is typically implemented with a gray counter to avoid causing a large quantization error when the sampling edge is triggered close to the asynchronous VCO edge and, thus, during a counter transition. One drawback of the counter-based technique is that the quantizer output must go through a separate mismatch-shaping algorithm to guarantee high linearity if it is to be used in a closed-loop design with a multi-bit feedback DAC.

2.5 **Properties of VCO-based ADCs**

This section will go over several key properties of VCO-based ADCs. To this end, the simplest implementation of a VCO-based ADC will be studied. This implementation comprises an open-loop VCO-based integrator and a quantizer, as shown in Figure 2.3(a), with an s-domain model of the ADC in Figure 2.3(b). Using this simplified model, we will explain the properties and challenges inherent in using VCO-based ADCs before looking into the literature on previous works and how these challenges were met.

2.5.1 1st-order noise shaping and anti-aliasing

Analyzing the block diagram in Fig 1.3(b), the block diagram behavior is expressed as

$$D_{\text{out}}[n] = \int_{(n-1)T_{\text{s}}}^{nT_{\text{s}}} K_{\text{vco}} v(t) dt + (E_{\text{Q}}[n] - E_{\text{Q}}[n-1])$$
(2.4)

where D_{out} is the digital representation of the input signal, and E_Q is the quantization error. The second term highlights that the differentiation at the output effectively high-pass filters the quantization error, thus providing 1st-order noise shaping to the system. The first term, on the other hand, can also be expanded and shown to be equivalent to passing the input signal v(t) through a sinc filter with a frequency response, H_F , of

$$H_{\rm F}(f) = \frac{K_{\rm VCO}e^{-j\pi T_{\rm S}f}\sin(\pi T_{\rm S}f)}{\pi f}$$
(2.5)

At low frequencies, the filter response is ~1; thus, the output approximates the input voltage. It also shows that, like a standard voltage domain architecture, the VCO-based ADC provides antialiasing by filtering the input signal at high frequencies and has nulls around multiples of the sampling frequency, f_s . Another advantage of using VCO as integrators is that the dc gain is infinite, which is a key factor in avoiding issues such as dead-bands and SQNR degradation in CT-DSM architectures due to the limited dc gain of the opamps in the *RC* integrators [11].

2.5.2 Linearity

A key challenge in VCO-based ADCs is the non-linearity of the voltage-to-frequency gain. This non-linearity has two key origins: the non-linear transconductor (V \rightarrow I) and the nonlinear response of the current-controlled oscillator (I \rightarrow F). While the even-order harmonics can be canceled by a pseudo-differential implementation, as shown in Figure 2.3, the odd-order harmonics typically limit the harmonic distortion to less than 50 dB in open-loop [12]. This limited linearity has been one of the main challenges in the design of high SNDR VCO-based ADCs, and, as such, many techniques have been explored to enhance the voltage-to-frequency conversion linearity using techniques such as calibration [13] and feedback [10].

2.5.3 Metastability

Metastability is a major concern when implementing multi-bit quantizers, especially with low supply voltages. A quantizer with a large number of bits, N, reduces the quantization step, V_{DD}/N , which is challenging when decreasing the supply voltage as it increases the power and area of the comparator. However, the inner stages of the VCO-based integrators are mostly either at ground or V_{DD} , except for the state that is currently transitioning. This significantly reduces the likelihood of a metastable state.

2.6 VCO-based sensor front-end: Review of the prior-art

While much of the research in VCO-based ADCs has been for high-speed applications with bandwidths >10MHz [13], [14], [15], [16], [17], VCO-based ADCs also offer significant advantages for sensor applications with kHz bandwidths [18]. This is exemplified by the growing number of sensor-focused, VCO-based ADCs reported in the literature [19], [20], [21], [22], [23]. However, designing high-precision VCO-based ADCs is challenging due to two main factors, namely: 1) The voltage-to-frequency operation relies on an intrinsically non-linear voltage-to-frequency conversion, limiting their linearity to <50dB in open-loop without linearity compensation techniques [13], 2) The typical VCO-based ADC has a very limited input range due to the open-loop operation.

Several techniques have been reported to address this linearity and input range limitation and are illustrated in Figure 2.4. In [19], Jiang *et al.* proposed using an open-loop VCO and linearizing it with digital non-linearity correction [Figure 2.4(a)]. While this non-linearity correction algorithm increases the SFDR to ~70 dB, the input amplitude is limited to 50 mV_{pp}. To



Figure 2.4. Direct digitization VCO-based sensor front-end architectures: (a) Open-loop with digital correction, (b) Closed-loop ac-coupled, (c) Hybrid dc-coupled, (d) DPCM-based, and (e) Proposed 2nd-order multi-phase quantizer.

further improve the system's linearity and increase the input range, a closed-loop architecture was reported in [20]. As shown in Figure 2.4(b), this design achieved 90 dB SFDR, but the input range was still only 100 mV_{pp}, and the 1st-order noise shaping required a high oversampling ratio (OSR) and thus a high chopping frequency leading to a low input impedance (220 k Ω). In [22], a dc-coupled architecture combines a *G*_m-*C* integrator with a VCO-based quantizer, as shown in Figure 2.4(c). The dc-coupled architecture ensures a high input-impedance, but it comes at the cost of sensitivity to input common-mode and an analog-heavy first-stage. A differential pulse-code modulation (DPCM)-based predictor is used in [24] to maintain 1st-order quantization noise shaping while allowing for second-order shaping of the input, as shown in Figure 2.4(d). However, this requires a large 9-bit capacitive DAC (CDAC) with a large input cap, resulting in low input impedance. The ADC proposed in Chapter 3 is illustrated in Figure 2.4 (e).

Acknowledgments

Chapter 2, in part, is a reprint of the material as it appears in Pochet, C. and Hall, D.A.(2023). VCO-Based ADCs for Direct Digitization of ExG Signals. In: Harpe, P., Baschirotto, A.,

Makinwa, K.A. (eds) Biomedical Electronics, Noise Shaping ADCs, and Frequency References. Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-28912-5_2</u>. The dissertation author was the primary investigator and author of this paper.

CHAPTER 3 : A SECOND ORDER VCO-BASED DIRECT-DIGITIZATION EXG FRONTEND

3.1 Introduction

With the rise of the Internet-of-things (IoT), there has been mounting interest in wearable devices for long-term, continuous health and wellness monitoring [4], [25], [26], [27], [28]. However, there are many challenges in acquiring high-fidelity, clinical-grade physiological data from a person outside a stationary, controlled environment like a hospital or clinic. For example, a wearable device must tolerate motion artifacts and power line interference (*e.g.*, 50/60Hz) while having ultra-low power consumption to ensure high-quality measurements over an extended period on a single charge.

Electrocardiography (ECG), electroencephalography (EEG), and electromyography (EMG) are examples of biopotential recording applications. The signals recorded from these are collectively called ExG signals [29], [30]. When recorded using non-invasive electrodes, ExG signals have amplitudes between a few μ Vs and 10s of mV over a 1 kHz bandwidth (BW), thus requiring an input-referred noise $<5 \mu$ V_{ms}. The electrodes also introduce up to 100 mV dc offset. The electrode impedance depends on the electrode material, area, and presence/absence of a conductive gel. Several studies have characterized the impedance of different electrodes and shown that the resistance per area in the sub-kHz, ranges from ~1 to 100 kΩ/cm² [31], [32]. This results in electrodes with an impedance between 10 kΩ and 5 MΩ, requiring a front-end with high input impedance to not attenuate the signal. More challenging, motion artifacts can induce large in-band signals (common- and differential-mode), requiring >200 mV input range [33]. Thus, an



Figure 3.1. ExG signal acquisition systems.

ExG analog front-end (AFE) for wearable applications requires a dynamic range (DR) >90 dB to digitize the ExG signal in the presence of electrode offset and motion artifacts without saturation. Importantly, most motion artifact removal algorithms assume that the acquired signal is a linear combination of the artifact and ExG signal [34], [35], thus imposing a strict linearity requirement.

A conventional AFE for biopotential acquisition is illustrated in Figure 3.1. It is composed of a high-gain programmable gain amplifier (PGA) that amplifies and filters the ExG signal before digitization while also providing high input-impedance (>10 M Ω). This structure works well for stationary recording, but motion artifacts can cause saturation and/or distortion due to the PGA's limited DR and linearity. As such, there has been increasing effort toward removing the PGA and directly digitizing the signal [19], [20], [21], [24], [25], [36], [37], [38], [39], as shown in Figure 3.1.

Continuous-time (CT) delta-sigma modulators (DSM) are one candidate to replace the classic PGA and ADC front-end as they have intrinsic antialiasing, can achieve high DR, and can

be designed to have high input-impedance [19], [20], [25], [40]. Several designs have achieved the necessary DR for wearable applications [25], [37], [38]; however, they typically do not have sufficient linearity, complicating downstream signal processing and analysis. Conventionally, CT-DSMs are designed using amplifiers and comparators processing the signal in the voltage domain.

While this can achieve excellent performance [40], [41], designing these analog-heavy implementations is becoming complicated with technology scaling, which reduces the supply voltage and intrinsic gain [1]. A key element to achieving high DR and linearity with a DSM relies on multi-bit internal quantizers, which require a mismatch shaping technique to remove mismatch-induced non-linearities in the feedback path, adding delay and power. Due to these drawbacks, there has been growing interest in using time-domain CT-DSMs with phase-domain integration using voltage-controlled oscillators (VCO). By processing the signal in the time-/phase-domain, VCO-based ADCs do not suffer as much from the supply voltage reduction and benefit from the shorter transition times associated with advanced process nodes. Furthermore, in some implementations, the circular nature of the ring oscillator can be leveraged to provide intrinsic data-weighted averaging (DWA) [9, 13].

This chapter reports an ExG front-end that achieves both high DR (>90 dB) and SFDR (>110 dB) in a 1 kHz BW with a 400 mV_{pp} input range. This is accomplished using a single-loop, 2^{nd} -order VCO-based ADC that incorporates a novel multi-phase, multi-quantizer noise-shaped time-to-digital converter (TDC) to achieve high DR and SNDR in a power-efficient fashion. Auxiliary input-impedance boosters provide a high input impedance [33]. The time-domain operation also allows for dynamic power scaling through the amplitude-dependent duty cycling of the ADC's second integrator and quantizer, leading to ~35% savings in the absence of artifacts.


Figure 3.2. (a) Simplified single-ended ADC diagram and node waveforms (b) ADC's block diagram.

3.2 Architecture

3.2.1 Basic Operation

We propose a single-loop, 2^{nd} -order VCO-based ADC that leverages a novel multi-phase, multi-quantizer noise-shaped TDC second stage to achieve high DR and SNDR in a powerefficient fashion. The approach is combined with an auxiliary input-impedance booster for high input impedance. The proposed architecture is inspired by [42], a high-speed ADC with 2^{nd} -order noise-shaping using only ring oscillator-based integrators. As illustrated in Figure 3.2 (a), the ADC is composed of a G_m stage and a current-controlled oscillator (CCO) followed by a phase detector (PD). The PD output is quantized by a dual-mode ring oscillator (DMRO) TDC and fed back to the input. The first G_m -CCO acts as an integrator in the phase domain, accumulating the difference between the input voltage and the DAC. The PD compares the phase between two differential CCOs, resulting in a time encoding of the integration value. This time-based encoding has two notable benefits: 1) It enables a low supply voltage after the first stage since the information is in the pulse width, not the amplitude, and 2) The 2^{nd} stage's linearity is guaranteed since a two-level signal drives it. The noise-shaped TDC quantizes the pulse width while providing an additional order of noise-shaping, resulting in 2^{nd} -order noise-shaping for the system. Feedback through a multi-bit DAC ensures low input swing at the G_m -cell input, which helps ensure high linearity despite using a non-linear G_m -CCO integrator in the 1^{st} stage.

3.2.2 Loop Dynamics

The equivalent block diagram of the ADC is shown in Figure 3.2(b). The loop has two integrators, so its stability must be evaluated. Since the loop contains CT integrators and a discrete-time (DT) differentiator, it must be converted to one domain for analysis using the techniques described in [11]. The equivalent DT model allows the signal transfer function (STF) and noise transfer function (NTF) to be computed as

$$STF(z) = \frac{2FT_s^2}{2 + (FG_{\text{DAC}}T_s^2 - 2)z^{-1} + FG_{\text{DAC}}z^{-2}}$$
(3.1)

$$NTF(z) = \frac{2(1-z^{-2})}{2 + (FG_{\text{DAC}}T_{\text{s}}^2 - 2)z^{-1} + FG_{\text{DAC}}z^{-2}}$$
(3.2)

where $F = 2\pi G_{\rm m}K_{\rm CCO}I_{\rm DMRO}K_{\rm DMRO}$, $G_{\rm m}$ is the input stage's transconductance, $K_{\rm CCO}$ is the CCO's current-to-frequency gain, $I_{\rm DMRO}$ is the current pulse driving the DMRO, $K_{\rm DMRO}$ is the DMRO's current-to-frequency gain, $G_{\rm DAC}$ is the equivalent DAC gain, and $T_{\rm s}$ is the sampling period. The NTF confirms the system's 2nd-order noise-shaping behavior. The loop dynamics were further explored and characterized in [43], and the system was shown to be stable over a wide range of

coefficients and excess loop delay (ELD) up to an entire clock cycle. This can be explained by the fact that despite having two integrators in the loop, the differentiator effectively "cancels" the effect of an integrator, thus making the system equivalent to a 1st-order $\Delta\Sigma$.

3.2.3 Implementation

The practical implementation of this architecture poses several challenges. First, this architecture relies on pseudo-differential encoding at the PD output, which makes it very sensitive to mismatch and limits the linearity (SFDR < 80 dB) in previous designs [42], [43], [44]. Second, prior art used a switched-ring oscillator (SRO) TDC, which offers excellent linearity [45] but increases the power consumption, making the system less efficient. This is evident when the 2nd integrator consumes as much (or more) power as the 1st integrator [42], [43], [44], which is far from ideal in a noise-limited design. Finally, the integrator's time-encoded output ensures intrinsic linearity from the second stage, but it generates large tones around the CCO frequency, *f*_{CCO}, like a pulse-width modulation (PWM) encoded signal. To avoid folding these PWM tones in-band and degrading the SQNR, *f*_{CCO} must be higher than the sampling frequency, *f*_s, and thus consumes higher power [43].

We tackle these implementation challenges through several innovations. The TDC quantizer is based on a novel gated-inverted-ring oscillator (GIRO) structure that significantly improves power efficiency, mismatch tolerance, and thus the SFDR. This is coupled with a multiphase, multi-quantizer architecture that relaxes the power required by the first CCO and improves the power efficiency while maintaining high linearity. Finally, we use a counter-based quantizer [24] instead of a phase domain sense-amplifier DFF-based quantizer [20], allowing signal-dependent power savings in the absence of motion artifacts.



Figure 3.3. (a) Block diagram of mismatch induced non-linearity in a dual-path TDC. (b) Simulated SFDR as a function of path mismatch.

3.2.4 Mismatch resilient GIRO-bases quantizer

As illustrated in Figure 3.2(b), the TDC is modeled as a CT integrator followed by a digital differentiator, which is equivalent to having a block with $2\pi K_{DMRO}$ gain [45]. For correct operation, the pulse width must be proportional to the input amplitude. Therefore, the non-saturating range of the PD directly defines the ADC's input range, as an overflow would cause the loop to be unstable. Typically, the PD is implemented using a phase-frequency detector (PFD), which has a 2× larger non-saturating input range than an XOR-based PD [8]. Figure 3.3(a) shows the PFD-based TDC operation, where the positive or negative path is activated depending on the signal polarity. Despite the high loop gain, this pseudo-differential operation leads to significant SFDR degradation with path mismatch. Figure 3.4(b) shows the simulated linearity where the path mismatch was varied from 0 to 5%. To achieve >100 dB SFDR, the mismatch due to even-order harmonic distortion. This SFDR degradation also exists in prior-art dual-path DMRO TDCs, where simulation results show >100 dB linearity while measurement results have an SFDR <80 dB [42], [43], [44].

There are two common implementations of a DMRO noise-shaped TDC, both based on a current-starved ring-oscillator: a gated-ring oscillator (GRO) [46] and an SRO [45]. While a GRO



Figure 3.4. (a) GIRO and sign detection circuit with timing diagram, and (c) Monte Carlo simulation results comparing a GRO and GIRO.

has lower power and better noise performance due to the on/off behavior, the SRO reduces the timing skew and thus improves the linearity. The three major sources of frequency mismatch in a current-starved ring oscillator are: 1) The total node capacitance, C_{tot} , which is influenced by variation in sizing and the oxide capacitance; 2) The voltage swing, V_{sw} , due to threshold voltage variation; and 3) Bias current variation, I_B . To improve the path matching of a GRO, we propose the GIRO structure shown in Figure 3.4. The GIRO combines an inverted ring oscillator-based TDC [47] and a sign-detection circuit, similar to a digital PLL [48]. The sign detection is implemented with an XOR gate and a DFF. The XOR takes the "absolute value," outputting only the pulse width, and clocks the DFF, which samples the DWN path, thus extracting the "sign" information. This slightly differs from [48], where the other PFD output clocked the sign detection circuit. Clocking with the XOR gate ensures that the SIGN bit updates at the start of the XOR pulse instead of flipping between the start and end, as in the original implementation. With this sign detection circuit, the two TDC paths can be merged into a single path, and the polarity correction is pushed to the digital domain.

The noise-shaping is maintained using an inverted ring oscillator structure, which merges two ring oscillators such that the TDC oscillates in a clockwise or counter-clockwise direction, depending on the SIGN bit polarity. This allows the nodes to share the same capacitance and bias current, significantly improving the matching. The path merging also reduces the leakage by ensuring that the TDC only holds the charge during the short time between pulses instead of between polarity flips, as required in a dual-path GRO.

Figure 3.4(b) shows Monte Carlo simulation results (n = 100) of the frequency variation of a GRO and GIRO. For the GRO, the mismatch is zero-mean with a 4% variance, limiting the SFDR to ~82 dB, per Figure 3.4(b). The GIRO also has zero-mean mismatch, but the variation is reduced to 0.6%. For similar matching, the size of the dual-path DMRO would need to be increased by ~36× based on Pelgrom's Law, which would require significantly increasing the power consumption of the quantizer. Thus, the GIRO structure improves the matching by 6.5× over a GRO, enabling the system to achieve 100 dB much more efficiently than the two-path approach.

3.2.5 Multi-Quantizer TDC

The 1st integrator's output after the PFD is represented by a PWM-encoded signal at f_{CCO} . This PWM signal contains the result of the integration information at low-frequency and highfrequency tones around f_{CCO} . Despite being partially filtered by the second integrator, these highfrequency tones can fold back in-band and degrade the SQNR [43]. To reduce this effect, the CCO can be designed to oscillate at a frequency higher than f_s [43]; however, this has the significant drawback of increasing power consumption. The integrator gain, K_{int} , is

$$K_{\rm int} = G_{\rm m} K_{\rm CCO} \propto \frac{G_{\rm m}}{I_{\rm B}} f_{\rm CCO}$$
(3.3)

This shows that for a target K_{int} , a higher f_{CCO} reduces the G_m -cell's efficiency. Since the noise



Figure 3.5. (a) Multi-quantizer based TDC (N = 3); (b) Time and frequency domain operation of the constructive and destructive summing.

target sets G_m , it is critical to minimize f_{CCO} to minimize the integrator's power.

In [42], a multi-phase approach was proposed to break this tradeoff, where f_{CCO} is virtually increased by tapping and combining multiple phases of the ring oscillator in the current domain. While this technique lowers f_{CCO} , it comes at the cost of losing the intrinsic linearity of the TDCbased quantizer. We propose using multiple noise-shaped TDCs in parallel, which maintains the intrinsic linearity of each channel and allows a lower f_{CCO} . This approach is illustrated in Figure 3.5(a) using three phases. Similar to [42], multiple out-of-phase components of the ring oscillator are tapped, but instead of being combined in an analog fashion using a current summer, each of the individual channel's SIGN bit is detected, and then the output of the XOR gate is fed to the GIRO-based TDC. The results are then summed digitally. We ensure that each channel only operates between two levels by pushing this summation to the digital domain, thus preserving the inherent linearity.

Figure 3.5(b) illustrates how the digital tone cancellation works. Each XOR output pulse contains the integration information and high-frequency tones quantized by a separate TDC. Each TDC output comprises input tones scaled by 1/N, where *N* is the number of channels, and folded back tones. The phase and frequency of the input tone are matched across the channels, while the



Figure 3.6. (a) SQDR vs N, (b) Power vs. N, and (c) SFDR improvement vs. N.

folded tones generated by the PWM encoding are both out-of-phase <u>and</u> at the same folded frequency. These conditions enable the signal tones to add constructively during digital summation while the folded tones add destructively. This leads to a high SQNR and is reasonably insensitive to phase and gain mismatch between the channels. Selecting *N* is a tradeoff between area, power, and target signal-to-quantization and distortion ratio (SQDR). As illustrated in Figure 3.6(a) and (b), as the number of phases increases, the SQDR increases while the power required by the G_m -CCO decreases. However, the digital cells' leakage power increases, leading to a shallow power optimum. Balancing these tradeoffs, N = 5 was selected for this design.

Another advantage of the multi-quantizer approach is that it improves the linearity due to averaging by reducing the distortion and the quantization noise, as observed in [49]. The multiple TDCs act as staggered quantizers, improving the SQNR and linearity. This was simulated and is shown in Figure 3.6(c), where the matching increases with N and follows the well-known Pelgrom's Law [50], [51], which trades-off area (the number of quantizers) for improved matching. For N = 5, this improves the SFDR by 7 dB. This multi-quantizer averaging also reduces the effect of inter-channel gain and phase mismatch. Simulations showed no SQNR degradation occurs for gain and phase mismatch <15%, which is easily achieved with appropriate sizing and layout.

3.3 Circuit Implementation

3.3.1 System Architecture

The ADC architecture is shown in Figure 3.7. A 200 kHz sampling frequency was selected for an OSR of 100 and a 1 kHz BW. The loop coefficients ($G_m = 18 \mu S$, $K_{CCO} = 74 \text{ GHz/A}$, $K_{DMRO} = 10 \text{ THz/V}$, and $I_{DMRO} = 200 \text{ nA}$) were selected through extensive behavioral simulations using *Simulink* and *Spectre*, trading off the SQNR and the loop stability. A 7-bit DAC was selected for an SQNR >110 dB and to guarantee a small swing at the G_m -cell input. These parameters tolerate up to 2% delay from the digital logic and DEM without additional compensation.

The first integrator is chopped at $f_s/2$ (100 kHz) to reduce 1/f noise. This chopping frequency was picked to avoid quantization noise folding. The input capacitance is 900 fF, implemented with a metal-insulator-metal (MIM) capacitor. This capacitance forms a high pass filter (corner frequency < 10 Hz) with the pseudo-resistors that bias the $G_{\rm m}$ -cell. The 7-bit CDAC designed with custom 1.85 fF metal-oxide-metal (MOM) capacitors guarantees that the input swing is <15 mV_{pp}. The MOM capacitors were sized to achieve <0.2% matching, according to [52]. The total CDAC capacitance is 300 fF, so the input capacitive attenuation is 0.7. A switched capacitor resistor is formed by chopping before the input capacitance, significantly reducing the input-impedance (~5 M Ω). This impedance is too low to interface with small electrodes, which have impedances of several M Ω . An auxiliary amplifier precharges the input capacitance after the chopping clock, thus reducing the charge that needs to be supplied from the electrode and increasing the input impedance. The input-impedance booster was implemented similarly to [33] using buffer duty-cycling for power savings and capacitive charge sharing for fast charging. Two factors limit the maximum achievable input impedance: 1) The input impedance due to chopping the auxiliary buffer, which is needed to eliminate its offset and 1/f noise [33]; and 2) The duty-



cycle needs to be <5% of T_s to maintain low power and avoid SNDR degradation, which leaves 250 ns to precharge the input capacitor. These factors limit the maximum input impedance with auxiliary input-impedance boosting to a few 10s of M Ω in a CT-DSM-based direct-digitization architecture [25].

3.3.2 *G*_m-CCO Integrator

The 1st integrator comprises a chopped G_m and two 30-stage ring oscillators. The chopping reduces the 1/*f* noise so that the system is thermal noise-limited. The G_m is a differential pair for direct current control of the CCO and to avoid the power overhead required for common-mode feedback and the non-linearity of a two-stage current-reuse topology [24]. It is source degenerated by a 12 k Ω tunable resistor (±10%) to linearize the G_m that tunes the loop parameters while maintaining a constant f_{CCO} . The input transistors are thick-gate oxide NMOS devices to reduce gate leakage and avoid common-mode drift from the pseudo-resistors. As shown in Figure 3.8, dead-band switches in front of the G_m are opened for 300 ns during chopping, and the differential switching artifacts are converted to a common-mode signal. The dead-band switch pulse width was chosen to absorb the digital propagation delay while minimally affecting the input-referred noise.



Figure 3.8. Schematic of the chopped G_m.

Each ring oscillator stage is a cross-coupled PMOS due to its superior noise performance [36]. The loop parameters determined the sizing, and 30 stages were chosen for flexibility as it could be easily reconfigured to work with N = 6 based on post-layout simulations. Every 6th node of the CCO is tapped, such that the five outputs are separated by 72°. As described earlier, this relaxes the requirement on f_{CCO} so that it can be reduced to 120 kHz.

3.3.3 GIRO Quantizer

Each TDC channel has a PFD, a sign detector, and a GIRO. The PFD is implemented using the well-known NAND structure. The UP and DOWN outputs are fed to the XOR gate and the DFF. The XOR is designed so that the propagation delay is long enough to allow the DFF to settle and avoid settling errors. While this could cause incorrect polarity extraction, this can only happen if the UP and DOWN pulses are extremely close to each other, which is a negligible error as it means the signal is extremely close to a polarity flip. An additional cross-coupled delay chain is added between the XOR and the GIRO input to generate differential signals and ensure a 2 ns



Figure 3.9. Schematic of the GIRO.

delay between the polarity flipping and the first GIRO edge. This delay allows the settling of the counters across process variation and corners. The delay chain output controls the GIRO behavior through digital muxes, as shown in Figure 3.9.

Each stage of the GIRO is implemented using single-ended, thick-oxide inverters to reduce leakage. They are laid out in a common-centroid fashion to improve the matching between the two paths. The inverter switches are minimum-sized transistors to reduce charge injection and leakage. The bias current generation is shared among all channels, and each independent current source is gate-switched. A large MIM capacitor enables quick charge sharing for rapid turn on/off and reduces skew. Due to the shared bias and the low current reference (200 nA), the large switches' leakage can modulate the current source's bias voltage, leading to non-linearity. A low-leakage switch structure was used to ensure this effect is limited and does not degrade the linearity [2], as illustrated in Figure 3.9. The buffer only consumes 100 nA and is shared by the 5 channels.

3.3.4 Digital Blocks

Each GIRO output is fed to a counter, triggered by the rising or falling edge, depending on whether the polarity bit is positive or negative. Since the counter's output is updated asynchronously with the sampling clock, this leads to potential sampling errors. Multiple bits could flip during a sampling instant for a binary counter, leading to a significant output error. Instead, the counter is implemented with a gray counter that guarantees only a 1-bit flip, limiting the sampling error. The output of each counter is passed through a gray-to-binary encoder and combined to obtain the final ADC output.

Given the multi-bit inner quantizer and feedback, mismatch shaping is needed. While DWA is a popular choice in high-precision ADCs due to its low SQNR degradation, segmented DEM is used since the number of wires required for DWA ($2^7 = 128$) would have severely complicated the CDAC layout. On the other hand, segmented-tree DEM only requires ($2^4 = 16$) wires, leading to a more straightforward layout and routing, and does not generate any tones at the cost of a higher noise floor. Simulink simulations confirmed that an SQNR >100 dB could be achieved with up to 1% DAC mismatch ($5 \times$ our design target). All digital logic was written in Verilog and synthesized using a standard digital flow.

3.4 Measurement Results

The VCO-based ADC was fabricated in a 65 nm TSMC LP process and occupied an active area of 0.075 mm². An annotated die micrograph is shown in Figure 3.10. The 1st integrator, impedance-booster, and CDAC are powered from a 1.2 V supply, while the multi-phase TDC quantizer and the digital blocks containing the summer and DEM logic operate at 0.8 V.



Figure 3.10. Die micrograph



Figure 3.11. Measured ADC output spectrum.

3.4.1 Electrical Characterization

The ADC's SNDR, SFDR, and DR were characterized by an ultra-low distortion signal generator (APx555) that generated a full-scale, 400 mV_{pp} sinusoid. The measured output spectrum is shown in Figure 3.11. The ADC achieved an SNDR of 92.3 dB in 1 kHz BW and a 110.3 dB SFDR, limited by the 3rd harmonic. The 40 dB/decade noise-shaping expected from the 2nd-order NTF is evident. To assess the mismatch resilience, the SFDR of 5 devices was measured (Figure 3.12). The average SFDR is 107.9 dB and consistently above 104 dB. The SNDR as a function of



Figure 3.13. Measured ADC SNDR over its bandwidth.

frequency from 1 Hz to 1 kHz is shown in Figure 3.13. The SNDR varies by less than 0.7 dB across the entire frequency range due to chopping with ac-coupling at the input.

The ADC input-referred noise was measured with shorted inputs. The PSD is shown in Figure 3.14. The integrated noise from 1 Hz to 1 kHz is 3.5 μ V_{rms}, and the spot noise is 110 nV/ $\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$. The 1/*f* noise in the spectrum is mainly due to the inverters in the 1st CCO, which are not chopped. However, this is less than 15% of the integrated noise.

Figure 3.15 shows the measured 92.3 dB DR and the power as a function of the amplitude. The pie charts show that the system power reduced from 5.8 to 4.25 μ W (35%) when the input amplitude was below 10 mV. As expected, the power of the GIRO and digital blocks is reduced significantly, and the power consumption is dominated by the input $G_{\rm m}$ -cell. This results from the input-dependent quantizer duty-cycling, enabling low power in the absence of motion artifacts.

The ADC was excited with two tones at 200 mV_{pp} to evaluate the impact of large motion artifacts on the linearity. Figure 3.16 shows the measured intermodulation distortion (IMD) was



Figure 3.14. Measured ADC input-referred noise spectrum.



Figure 3.15. Measured SNDR and power vs. input amplitude.



Figure 3.16. Measured intermodulation distortion (IMD).



Figure 3.17. Measured common-mode rejection ratio (CMRR) with a 200 mVpp (orange) and a 400 mVpp (blue) common-mode input

99.8 dBc with the intermodulation products $\sim 1 \ \mu V$, which is below the 3.5 μV_{rms} integrated noise of the AFE. This demonstrates that even in the presence of significant motion artifacts/interference, the distortion would be below the noise floor, thus not introducing any unwanted signals.

As illustrated in Figure 3.17, the common-mode rejection ratio (CMRR) was measured across the bandwidth with a full-scale ADC input (200 mV_{pp} single-ended) and was above 95 dB over the entire frequency range. Since a larger common-mode artifact is expected in a wearable

device (up to 400 mV_{pp}), the ADC's CMRR was measured with this larger input to be 82 dB. Common-mode artifacts larger than 400 mV_{pp} cause the ADC's loop stability to degrade, leading to a loss in performance. It should be noted that the results are better than those reported in the original paper [53] due to an improvement in the testing setup. The insensitivity to large and rapid artifacts was tested by superimposing a 150 μ V_{pp} sinusoid signal on a 300 mV_{pp} squarewave. As illustrated in Figure 3.18, the ADC quickly recovers from the artifact, allowing the small sinusoidal to be clearly observed. To measure the input impedance, *Z*_{in}, high precision 1 MΩ resistances were placed in series with the ADC inputs, and an instrumentation amplifier amplified the voltage across



Figure 3.18. Square wave and sinusoid combined.



Figure 3.19. Measured input impedance with and without impedance boosting.

them. Figure 3.19 shows Z_{in} measured across the bandwidth with and without activating the auxiliary path booster. Z_{in} is boosted by 12× when the auxiliary path is enabled and is >50 M Ω across the entire bandwidth.



Figure 3.20. ExG measurements: (a) ECG, (b) EOG, and (c) EMG.

3.4.2 Biological Measurements

This ADC was validated by measuring various ExG signals with 3M red dot electrodes on a healthy volunteer. Figure 3.20(a) shows the waveform from a three-lead chest ECG recording. Around 8 seconds into the recording, motion artifacts were purposely generated to showcase the ability of the system to correctly digitize the ECG waveform in the presence of large motion artifacts like one would encounter with a wearable in a non-stationary environment. The system does not saturate, and the ECG waveform can be observed and extracted despite the large motion artifact. The system was also used to measure EOG [Figure 3.20(b)] and EMG [Figure 3.20(c)], showing that the system can measure standard ExG waveforms.

| | [19] | [24] | [20] | [22] | [41] | [40] | This work |
|----------------------------------|-----------|-----------------------|-----------------------|----------------|----------------|--|----------------|
| Integration domain | Time | Time | Time | Hybrid | Voltage | Voltage | Time |
| Topology | Open-loop | 1^{st} -ord. | 1^{st} -ord. | 2^{nd} -ord. | 3^{rd} -ord. | $\begin{array}{c} \text{CCIA} \\ + 3^{\text{rd}} \text{-ord.} \end{array}$ | 2^{nd} -ord. |
| Technology[nm] | 40 | 65 | 40 | 65 | 180 | 65 | 65 |
| Area [mm ²] | 0.135 | 0.08 | 0.025 | 0.078 | 0.5 | 0.113 | 0.075 |
| Supply (A/D)[V] | 1.2/0.45 | 0.8 | 0.8/0.6 | 1 | 1 | 1.2 | 1.2/0.8 |
| Power [µW] | 7 | 1.68 | 4.5 | 6.5 | 6.5 | 7.3 | 4.25-5.8 |
| Coupling | ac | ac w/chop | ac w/chop | dc | ac w/chop | ac w/chop | ac w/chop |
| Input-range [mV _{pp}] | 100 | 460 | 100 | 300 | 360 | 200 | 400 |
| Sampling frequency[kHz] | 3 | 64 | 2500 | 1280 | 12.8 | 400 | 200 |
| BW [kHz] | 0.2 | 0.5 | 10 | 10 | 0.3 | 5 | 1 |
| CMRR [dB] | 66 | 97 | 83 | 76 | 84 | 78 | 100.2 |
| Input-referred noise [nV/√Hz] | 367 | 118 | 36 | 95 | 265 | 90 | 110 |
| SNDR [dB] | 75.2 | 94.2 | 78.5 | 80.4 | 84.3 | 78 | 92.3 |
| DR [dB] | 77.4 | 95.1 | 79 | 80.4 | 84.3 | 81 | 92.3 |
| SFDR [dB] | 79 | 128 | 91 | 92.2 | 104.7 | 81 | 110.3 |
| Z_{in} at DC / BW [MΩ] | ∞ / 8 | 8 / 8 | 0.22 / 0.22 | ∞ / 13.3 | 39 / 39 | 1500 / 19.6 | 60 / 50 |
| FoM _{SNDR} [dB] | 149.6 | 178.9 | 172 | 172.3 | 160.9 | 166.4 | 174.7 |

Table 3.1. Performance summary and comparison to the state-of-the-art

3.4.3 Comparison to the State-of-the-Art

Table 3.1 compares this work with recently published direct digitization ADCs operating in the time and voltage domains. This work achieves excellent linearity due to the improved matching of the proposed GIRO-based quantizer. The time-domain signal processing also enables significant power savings in the "nominal" operating state (*i.e.*, in the absence of artifacts). This work achieves a competitive Schreier figure-of-merit (FoM) of 174.7 dB while maintaining an input impedance $>50 \text{ M}\Omega$ over the entire bandwidth of interest.

3.5 Conclusion

This chapter presents a direct-digitization VCO-based ADC for biopotential sensing application that achieves over 90 dB SNDR and 100 dB SFDR, enabling it to digitize small ExG signals in the presence of large motion artifacts and interference. This is accomplished by enabling second-order noise-shaping using an integrating and time-encoding VCO-based 1st stage followed by a multiphase, multi-quantizer noise-shaped TDC. The system's linearity is further improved using a GIRO that significantly reduces the mismatch sensitivity. Leveraging the time-based processing of the ADC, the system's power is naturally duty-cycled with the input amplitude, leading to 35% power savings in the absence of artifacts. To achieve the high-input impedance required to interface with small electrodes, an input-impedance boosting circuit is placed around the input chopper, boosting the input impedance by a factor of 12^{\times} and guaranteeing >50 M Ω inputimpedance over the entire bandwidth while achieving very high linearity, low noise, and powerefficiency.

Acknowledgments

Chapter 3, in full, is a reprint of the material as it appears in C. Pochet, J. Huang, P. Mercier, and D. A. Hall, "A 174.7-dB FoM, 2nd-Order VCO-Based ExG-to-Digital Front-End

Using a Multi-Phase Gated-Inverted-Ring Oscillator Quantizer," in *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Circuits and Systems (TBioCAS)*, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 1283-1294, Dec. 2021, doi: 10.1109/TBCAS.2021.3133531.

The dissertation author was the primary investigator and author of this paper.

CHAPTER 4: THIRD ORDER VCO-BASED DIRECT-DIGITIZATION

4.1 Introduction

The rise of the internet-of-things (IoT) and distributed sensor nodes with on-chip machinelearning and edge processing drive the need for low-power, high-precision ADCs. These highly digital system-on-chips (SoCs) are best implemented in advanced process nodes that have low intrinsic gain and low supply voltages. These, unfortunately, make designing the high-performance amplifiers required in high-resolution delta-sigma ($\Delta\Sigma$) ADCs challenging [1].

Several techniques have been explored to enable low-supply voltage operation, such as bulk input amplifiers, tail-less inverters, and bulk biasing [54], [55], [56], [57]. However, these techniques often require removing the amplifier's tail-biasing to maintain enough voltage swing at low supply voltages, which involves trading the power supply rejection ratio (PSRR) and common-mode rejection ratio (CMRR) for swing, ultimately compromising the robustness. Another route is to exploit time-based encoding since it is supply voltage agnostic and benefits from the faster switching times in advanced process nodes. Time-domain architectures are frequently realized using a voltage-controlled oscillator (VCO) where VCOs have been used to implement analog operations such as amplification, filtering, and integration [7], [58], [59], [60], fundamental blocks needed in many mixed-signal systems. The most common use of these timedomain blocks is in $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs, as illustrated in Figure 4.1, where VCO-based integrators are popular due to their intrinsic phase quantization, open-loop noise-shaping [61], and, more



Figure 4.1. Capacitively coupled VCO-based ADC, highlighting advances and challenges of VCO-based ADCs and the proposed PVG FF technique.

importantly, their supply agnostic operation due to the time encoding of the phase information.

While most of the early research on VCO-based ADCs focused on high-speed applications with bandwidths above 10 MHz [9], [62], [63], [64], [65], the past decade has seen a growing interest in leveraging the small area and low supply operation of VCO-based ADCs for distributed sensing applications [10], [12], [24], [66], [67], [68]. These sensor front-ends typically require a wide dynamic range (DR) and linearity to capture sensor signals accurately. However, achieving high linearity has been challenging since the voltage to frequency gain of VCO-based ADCs is nonlinear, limiting the spurious-free dynamic range (SFDR) to only ~50 dB if used in open-loop. As such, significant research effort has focused on linearization techniques, such as adding feedback and/or digital calibration [9], [10], [24], [67]. However, as illustrated in Figure 4.1, even with feedback, the first integrator swing can still be a few 10s of mV due to the high-impedance node at the input of the integrator. This can limit the linearity and further cause quantization noise folding. Another challenge in time-domain $\Delta\Sigma$ architectures is that they are typically limited to 1storder noise shaping. There have been attempts to increase the loop order, thus relaxing the requirement on the quantizer resolution and the oversampling ratio (OSR); however, these relied on hybrid voltage- and time-domain architectures [17], [69], [70], [71], which unfortunately lose the scaling advantages of the time-domain-only architectures.

A few time-domain-only $\Delta\Sigma$ architectures have achieved higher-order noise shaping in a single loop. For instance, a 2nd-order VCO-only architecture used a time-encoding integrator in the first stage, followed by a closed-loop, noise-shaped time-to-digital converter (TDC) [12], but it required adding additional blocks to reduce the quantizer path mismatch and improve the SFDR. In [72], 3rd-order noise shaping is achieved through inner loop feedback. However, the first integrator is open-loop, which significantly degrades the linearity. Critically, the performance of these higher-order systems was lower than that of a 1st-order architecture due to the added complexity, and they were still far from their voltage-domain counterparts.

This work proposes an architecture building upon a typical time-domain capacitive DAC (CDAC)-based $\Delta\Sigma$ with a VCO-based integrator as the 1st stage, as illustrated in Fig. 4.1. A transconductor, G_m , and a current-controlled oscillator (CCO) form the VCO core, while a phase detector (PD) extracts the phase difference between the pseudo-differential CCOs. Due to the closed-loop operation, a pseudo-virtual ground (PVG) is created at the ADC input, reducing the swing seen by the VCO and thus linearizing the system. The PD guarantees supply voltage resilience due to the time-encoding. The core concept for the proposed technique relies on feeding forward the residue at the PVG to change the loop dynamics and linearize the first integrator by having it only process the quantization noise. This work demonstrates a 3rd-order, VCO-only $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC achieving 92.1 dB SNDR over a 2.5 kHz bandwidth (BW) using the proposed pseudo-virtual ground feedforward (PVG FF) technique. This approach enables a high DR due to the 3rd-order noise-shaping and >120 dB SFDR due to the linearization. The prototype ADC consumes 4.4 μ W

from a 0.8 V supply, achieving the best-reported Schreier SNDR figure-of-merit (FoM) for VCObased ADCs at 179.6 dB. This paper extends the work presented in [73].

4.2 Loop Filter Design

4.2.1 Architecture

The proposed architecture is best explained by starting with the well-known cascade of integrators with feedback (CIFB) architecture shown in Figure 4.2(a), where the loop is stabilized through a distributed feedback network. This structure leads to a natural implementation of the loop filter coefficients and is well known for its robustness and high anti-aliasing filtering [11]. However, it suffers from a few drawbacks that have pushed researchers to explore alternative architectures. Since the loop dynamics force the first integrator's output to cancel the DAC output, the integrator input is very tonal, and the integrator output amplitude scales with the input amplitude. This limits the coefficient scaling, which increases the ADC's area and the impact of noise from the subsequent stages, reducing the overall power efficiency. This input-dependent integrator output swing also increases the signal-to-quantization noise ratio (SQNR) degradation for a nonlinear integrator due to quantization noise folding [74].

Adding a feedforward path, as illustrated in Figure 4.2(b), solves some of these issues. Since the DAC at the output of the integrator contains a scaled copy of the input, feeding forward the ADC input to the integrator's output cancels the signal component from the DAC [75]. The feedforward path thus reduces the integrator swing at the expense of signal transfer function (STF) peaking and reduces the anti-alias filtering since the integrator is bypassed. The lower integrator



Figure 4.2. Comparison of (a) CIFB, (b) CIFB w/ FF, and (c) the proposed CIFB w/ PVG FF architectures. (d) Respective output spectra of each architecture.

output swing allows for more aggressive coefficient scaling and linearizes the integrator because it now mainly processes quantization noise. However, the feedforward path processes the fullswing input signal and must be linear despite the gain attenuation due to the first integrator. To abide by this strict linearity requirement, the feedforward path is typically implemented by a resistor connected from the input to the virtual ground of a closed-loop *RC* integrator further down the loop.

Finally, Figure 4.2(c) shows the proposed PVG FF architecture block diagram. It builds on the FF architecture by noticing that for ideal signal cancellation, the FF/DAC nodes and the ADC input node perform the same operation, *i.e.*, V_{in} - V_{DAC} . While the path gains differ, the path gain ratios, *i.e.*, $G_2/G_{FF} = G_1$, are the same. This allows the signal to be fed forward from the ADC's pseudo-virtual ground (the output of the first DAC) instead of the input with the appropriate scaling factor. This enables the loop to operate with the same dynamics as the standard FF-based architecture while eliminating the internal feedback DAC(s) and having the feedforward path process only a small swing, helping with its linearization.

Behavioral simulations of the three architectures show how they perform in the presence of nonlinearities. Based on simulation results, a G_m -CCO integrator has ~50 dB SFDR for a 50 mV_{pp} swing, similar to previous work [67]. The spectra with a nonlinear first integrator, K_1 , and feedforward elements, G_{FF} , are compared to the ideal CIFB architecture for a 3rd-order loop filter. Figure 4.2(d) shows that the CIFB significantly degrades performance when introducing nonlinearities with noticeable tones and quantization noise folding. There is less quantization noise folding when the input is fed forward, but the feedforward element's nonlinearities still cause significant distortion. On the other hand, due to the reduced input swing of the FF element, the PVG FF architecture's performance is superior to the CIFB and the input-FF architectures with a similar SQNR as the input-FF but without the tones caused by the nonlinearity of the FF path. This demonstrates that high SNDR can be achieved despite the large PVG swing using the PVG-FF architecture. This leads to more power-efficient architecture as the linearity of the integrator and feedforward elements can be relaxed for a target SNR.

This architecture closely resembles the CIFF architecture as it uses feedforwarding to remove the need for internal DACs. It, therefore, shares the characteristics of the CIFF loop filter family, such as STF peaking and reduced anti-aliasing. It should be noted that the CIFF architecture could not be implemented straightforwardly in a VCO-based ADC as the final integrator and quantizer are merged, and feedforwarding directly to the quantizer is not possible.



Figure 4.3. Block diagram of a VCO-based PVG-FF architecture.

Similarly, the PVG-FF technique would not be easy to implement with a closed-loop voltagedomain integrator, as the integrator's gain attenuates the virtual ground node, and loading this node slows down the integrator.

4.2.2 Loop Design

A block diagram of a 3rd-order PVG-FF architecture implemented using VCO-based integrators is shown in Figure 4.3. The feedback DAC generates a voltage that cancels the input voltage, leaving the residue voltage at the ADC's PVG. This voltage is converted to a current through a G_m -cell and fed to a pseudo-differential CCO. The CCO phase difference, $\Delta \varphi$, is extracted using a PD and then converted back into a current, where it is combined with the feedforward path, which is implemented with a transconductor due to the relaxed linearity. The time-domain integration and current-domain summation operations are repeated for the second integrator before the final VCO-based integrator. The last integrator's phase is quantized and fed back to the input.



Figure 4.4. (a) ADC's scaled output for an OBG = 1.25 and OBG = 4.5; (b) PVG swing as a function of the OBG.

Designing the loop for a target SQNR depends on selecting key parameters such as the quantizer resolution, OSR, and out-of-band gain (OBG). The target SNR was 95 dB in a 2.5 kHz bandwidth; thus, the SQNR was designed to be 110 dB in *Simulink*, 15 dB above the target SNR, to ensure that the system is thermal noise limited and allow for some degradation when other non-idealities such as chopping artifacts, parasitics, and DAC mismatch are added later in the design phase. The DAC resolution was selected by trading off two parameters: the PVG node swing and the DAC layout complexity. Adding more bits results in a lower swing at the PVG node, allowing for better G_m -cell linearity and power efficiency. Simulations showed that an OBG of 2.5 and a 6-bit DAC had a maximum PVG swing of 50 mV_{pp,diff} while maintaining a simple enough DAC layout. An OSR of 80 is then needed to achieve the target SQNR, considering the first integrator's nonlinearity. These parameters are similar to the state-of-the-art voltage-domain ADC reported in [40], which allows us to compare time- and voltage-domain architectures.



The only remaining parameter to be selected is the OBG. Increasing the OBG results in a higher SQNR due to increased quantization noise filtering but affects the stability of the design; thus, the lowest OBG achieving the target SQNR should be selected. Interestingly, the OBG increase also affects the PVG swing. As illustrated in Figure 4.4(a), increasing the high-frequency gain creates "fuzziness" and increases the swing at the PVG. Figure 4.4(b) shows a histogram of the integrator input where the swing increases by ~4× from an OBG of 1.25 to 4.5. This increased swing causes the achievable SQNR to be limited by the integrator's nonlinearity due to quantization noise folding. This tradeoff is shown in Figure 4.5, where the SQNR is calculated for a linear and nonlinear integrator. One can see that the SQNR has a shallow optimum between 2 and 2.75, so we chose an OBG of 2.5 to allow for good performance even in the presence of coefficient variation. It should be noted that this optimum point will depend on several factors such as OSR, number of bits in the DAC and G_m -CCO linearity. The PVG swing also affects the maximum g_m/I_D of the G_m -cell in the integrators, as a large swing requires a lower g_m/I_D to avoid full current steering. The ADC's maximum signal amplitude (MSA) depends on the OBG;



Figure 4.6. Block diagram of (a) frequency-domain and (b) phase-domain quantizers.

however, with a 6-bit DAC, the MSA is \sim 90% with <3% variation between an OBG of 1.25 and 4.5 due to the number of quantizer levels.

Another critical parameter for higher-order VCO-based ADCs is the SQNR dependence on the CCO frequency, f_{CCO} , and matching [12], [76]. Two types of VCO-based quantizers have been proposed in the literature – frequency-domain and phase-domain quantizers [64]. While these were used in hybrid voltage-/time-domain ADCs, they can also be used in time-domain-only architectures, as illustrated in Figure 4.6. Frequency-based quantization, where the VCO-based integrator in the quantizer is followed by a differentiator acting as a gain stage [12], [64], is illustrated in Figure 4.6(a). In this architecture, the loop dynamics force the time-domain encoding at the quantizer input to match the ADC input, thus leading to a pulse width modulated (PWM)based polarity-dependent encoding of the input signal. This makes the quantizer sensitive to path



Figure 4.7. SQNR vs. the CCO frequency normalized to the sampling frequency.

mismatch (between the positive and negative quantization paths) and the preceding CCO's f_{CCO} due to the high-frequency content of the PWM encoding [16].

This is not the case for a phase-domain quantizer, where the quantizer acts as an integrator, and thus, the quantizer input is a representation of the derivative of the ADC input signal [64]. The quantizer is fed the PFD output and the G_m -FF signal, thus relaxing the frequency requirement, as only part of the input is PWM encoded and requiring that f_{CCO} just be higher than $2f_s$ to update the loop with the phase information at least once per sample. As illustrated in Figure 4.7, this ensures loop stability and SQNR > 108 dB. The derivative encoding in the phase-domain quantizer also benefits from being independent of the input signal polarity, which significantly relaxes the matching between the pseudo-differential VCO-based quantizers and does not require mismatch improvement using a gated-inverted ring-oscillator (GIRO), as was done in [12], [77]. If f_{CCO} cannot be reached with the desired coefficient, it is possible to virtually increase it by tapping multiple phases of the CCO [58], [62].

4.2.3 Coefficient Scaling

In voltage-domain architectures, the internal node's swing in the loop filter is limited by the supply voltage of the operational amplifiers in the integrators. Therefore, the coefficients must be scaled to avoid saturation, as saturation would cause a large SNDR degradation and can push the loop into an unstable state. In time-based ADCs, this constraint on the voltage swing is transferred to the time domain. Thus, the coefficients must limit the phase difference between the pseudo-differential CCO, $\Delta \varphi$, to avoid phase wrapping in the phase detector. This highlights the importance of the PD implementation, as its gain directly affects the loop dynamics and the inner loop's DR. The most popular PDs are an XOR gate and a phase-frequency detector (PFD). An XOR PD is duty-cycle sensitive and has a phase range limited to π (*i.e.*, the effective gain is $1/\pi$). On the other hand, a PFD-based PD has a $\pm \pi$ phase range and is edge-triggered. Maximizing the PD DR enables one to maximize the coefficient scaling and thus achieve better power efficiency. Therefore, a PFD-based PD was selected.

Referring to Figure 4.3 and using the PFD's gain, the K_1 coefficient can be derived as

$$K_1 = G_{\rm m} K_{\rm CCO} I_{\rm p} \tag{4.1}$$

where G_m is the transconductance, K_{CCO} is the CCO's current-to-frequency gain, and I_p is the amplitude of the pulsed current source. The noise requirement sets the G_m , leaving K_{CCO} and I_p to achieve the target gain. K_{CCO} should be maximized (up to the limit allowed by the PFD) to allow for higher f_{CCO} and minimize I_p , thus improving power efficiency. The loop parameters were extracted from behavioral simulations and extensively studied to ensure that the loop remained stable and $\Delta \varphi$ was limited to 2π for all signals in the band of interest.



Figure 4.8. Block diagram of the proposed architecture and key coefficients.

4.3 Circuit Design

The proposed ADC is illustrated in Figure 4.8 with the relevant coefficients, the sampling frequency, f_s , and the chopping frequency, f_{ch} . The ADC input is chopped and capacitively coupled through two 252 fF metal-insulator-metal (MIM) capacitors onto the pseudo-virtual ground, a high-impedance node. Chopping pushes the flicker noise out of band and improves the ADC's CMRR. f_{ch} is set to $f_s/2$ to avoid quantization noise folding [78]. The output of each G_m -cell is chopped to ensure correct polarity in the loop. Due to the preceding gain, the G_m and power of the second and third VCO-based integrators are scaled by 10×. The final CCO's $\Delta \varphi$ is quantized with a 6-bit gray counter. A segmented dynamic element matching (DEM) algorithm [79] is applied to the output to ensure that the multibit DAC has high linearity. The DEM output is resampled after 0.1/ f_s (125 ns) to allow time for the logic to settle and synchronize the DAC.



Figure 4.9. Schematic of the input transconductor with dead band switch.

4.3.1 *G*m-cells

A schematic of the first G_m is illustrated in Figure 4.9 with the input chopper switches and ac-coupling capacitors. The input and DAC are capacitively coupled, and the input common-mode voltage, V_{cm} , is set through a pseudoresistor. All the G_m -cells share this node. The input chopper switches are clock boosted to $2V_{DD}$ to reduce the switches' on-resistance and allow for inputs above V_{DD} while maintaining high linearity. Chopping the CDAC induces large differential-mode chopping artifacts at the high-impedance PVG node due to the sudden switching and settling of the DAC capacitors upon a polarity swap. These artifacts significantly degrade the ADC performance by pushing the G_m -cell out of saturation, causing harmonics and quantization noise folding. It was proposed in [31] to remedy this issue by adding dead-band switches for a short time around the chopping instant, these artifacts are converted to common-mode charge injection and attenuated by the G_m -cell's CMRR [12], [40]. This allows the ADC's performance to be minimally impacted by the artifacts and maintain a high SQDR. An on-chip pulse generator creates the 30 ns


Figure 4.10. Schematic of the second and third integrator transconductors.

dead-band pulse and boosts the gate to $V_{CM}+V_{DD}$ to guarantee that the PMOS switches remain off even with artifacts above V_{DD} .

The first $G_{\rm m}$ -cell is implemented with NMOS thick-gate oxide devices to minimize gate leakage and source-degenerated by a 3-bit programmable resistor. The $G_{\rm m}$ -cell's current and source degeneration provide coefficient tuning and linearity adjustment post-fabrication to optimize the loop filter coefficients and the achievable SNDR. The output current is down-chopped and connected directly to the CCO for maximum current reuse and power efficiency. The second and third-stage CCO inputs combine the FF path and the PFD-driven integration pulse currents. Due to the architecture's relaxed FF path linearity requirement, the FF $G_{\rm m}$ -cells are implemented with standard differential pairs using thick-gate oxide devices for low gate leakage and biased in weak inversion ($g_{\rm m}/I_{\rm D} > 15$), as illustrated in Figure 4.10.

To ensure a fast and sharp rise time of the PFD-driven pulsed current sources, they are never turned off and instead shunted to a replica CCO in the off state, similar to a current steering DAC [80], thus maintaining a relatively constant V_{DS} across the current source. The switch does



Figure 4.11. Simulated (a) voltage and (b) current transient waveforms with and without the replica circuit.

not require any calibration or specialized synchronization as this pulser appears after the integrator; thus, any error is shaped when input-referred. The power cost of this is negligible since $2I_{p1}+2I_{p2}$ ≈ 150 nA. This has significant performance benefits, as demonstrated in the simulation results shown in Figure 4.11(a), where the circuit is simulated for a 40 ns pulse with and without the replica branch. Without the replica circuit, the current source's V_{DS} settles slowly to its nominal value and discharges when the switch is off. This causes the voltage across the switch at the drain



Figure 4.12. Schematic of the current-controlled oscillator and phase frequency detector.

of the current source to increase, leading to significant leakage, as shown in Figure 4.11(b). When the replica is added, V_{DS} stays constant at ~540 mV, and the current settles much faster to the desired value while guaranteeing <200 pA of leakage in the off state.

Simulations showed that mismatch between the pulsed current sources ($\sigma = 5\%$), easily achieved through layout and sizing, causes an SQNR variance of 0.3 dB, which is negligible because the mismatch appears after the first integrator. The three G_m -cells attached to the PVG-FF node add 90 fF of parasitic capacitance, which is compensated by tuning the loop filter coefficients. The input transistors were sized to achieve the target G_m , and the area was selected to ensure the flicker noise corner was less than 100 kHz ($f_{chop}/2$).

4.3.2 CCO and PFD

The ring-oscillator-based CCO implementation is shown in Figure 4.12. The ring is current starved by the NMOS-based $G_{\rm m}$ -cells and implemented as pseudo-differential PMOS cross-coupled stages for low-phase noise [10]. Low- $V_{\rm T}$ (LVT) devices guarantee a small ring-oscillator swing, 200 to 300 mV, over the frequency range. The inverter is sized for symmetric transitions to

minimize phase noise and the number of stages selected to achieve the target K_{CCO} . As illustrated in Figure 4.12, the level-shifters following the CCO to allow for rail-to-rail logic are implemented from [20] and consume negligible power. The PFD is built using a standard NOR-based DFF with custom logic gates implemented using high- V_T (HVT) devices to decrease the leakage power, leading to a 2 ns reset delay. This delay is sufficient to ensure settling time for the current pulser, even for small $\Delta \varphi$.

4.3.3 Quantizer and DAC

The VCO's phase is quantized using a counter-based quantizer [12], [66]. The VCO edges are asynchronous to the sampling instant; as such, the counter topology must be chosen carefully to avoid sampling the counter output during the transition of multiple internal bits [24]. To this end, the counter uses a gray code that allows only one internal transition during counting and guarantees minimal transition errors [24]. The counter accumulates $\Delta \varphi$, adding the difference to the ADC output. This result is then passed through a segmented DEM algorithm [79], simplifying the DAC implementation by reducing the number of elements compared to data-weighted averaging (DWA) and allowing for 1st-order shaping of the DAC mismatch. The DAC unit elements are custom metal-oxide-metal (MOM) capacitors for more flexibility during the layout of the DAC, with a 3.25 fF unit capacitance for a total DAC capacitance of ~250 fF. The capacitor variation was expected to be ~0.25% [52], degrading the ADC's performance by less than 1 dB in simulation.

4.4 Measurement Results

The proposed ADC was fabricated in a 65 nm LP-CMOS process and occupies 0.1 mm^2 . An annotated chip micrograph is shown in Figure 4.13, where the feedforward transconductors were laid out near the main $G_{\rm m}$ -cell to minimize the parasitic loading at the input node, maximize



Figure 4.13. Annotated chip micrograph.

matching, and avoid resistive loss. The ADC consumes 4.4 μ W from a 0.8 V supply, as shown in Figure 4.14(a). The CDAC reference voltage is 1.2 V to maximize the ADC input range. The power consumption is dominated by the first integrator, followed by the on-chip digital blocks, such as the counter and DEM algorithm, which would benefit from technology scaling. Figure 4.14(b) shows that the shaped CDAC mismatch (from the DEM) dominates the input-referred noise power. This could be remedied by using DWA, which would increase the tonality but decrease the in-band noise generated by the mismatch shaping by 6 dB, or by improving the CDAC layout and increasing the unit capacitors' area for improved matching. It is estimated that this would lead to a ~2 dB improvement in the ADC performance. The active area of the ADC is only



Figure 4.14. (a) Power, (b) noise power, and (c) area distributions.

 0.026 mm^2 , largely due to the first integrator, DAC, and input capacitors, as shown in Figure 4.14(c).

4.4.1 Spectral Characterization

The chip was tested using an Audio Precision APx555B ultra-low distortion signal source applying a 1.8 V_{pp} full-scale sinusoidal input at 322 Hz. The input common-mode was set to 500 mV, so each differential input varies between 50 mV and 950 mV with a 1.8 V_{pp} differential input. Despite the large voltage across the clock-boosted chopping switches, no reliability issues were observed. Figure 4.15(a) shows the output spectrum where the ADC achieves a peak SNDR of 92.1 dB in a 2.5 kHz bandwidth and an SFDR of 123 dB. The 60 Hz and 180 Hz tones are caused by power line interference, as this was not tested in a Faraday cage. The characteristic 60 dB/decade noise-shaping from a 3rd-order modulator is apparent, confirming the proper operation of the loop. The spectrum when DEM is deactivated is shown in Figure 4.15(b), demonstrating a significant degradation in linearity (>60 dB) without the mismatch shaping algorithm. This also shows that the noise-shaping is degraded below 10 kHz due to DEM's 1st-order mismatch shaping. This amount of degradation was unexpected and indicates that the DAC mismatch is higher than the 0.25% anticipated. The authors believe that a 0.5% mismatch, which would decrease the SQNR to about 95 dB, as illustrated in the noise breakdown, causes a significant loss in performance as the quantization and DAC error shaping contribute to about 40% of the input-referred noise. The flicker noise corner is at ~60 Hz due to the CCO, which can not be chopped. It was sized to have symmetric rise and fall times while maximizing the area. However, the flicker noise still contributes ~15% of the ADC's noise. The dynamic range was characterized by sweeping the input amplitude, achieving a 92.1 dB DR. The SNDR was then measured with a full-scale input sinusoid from 50 Hz to 2.5 kHz, where <0.5 dB variation was observed [see Figure 4.16]. Due to the high number of bits in the internal quantizer, the SNR and DR should have similar values.

The ADC's linearity was measured across the ADC's bandwidth and dominated by the thirdorder harmonic distortion (HD3). As shown in Figure 4.17, the maximum in-band HD3 is 119.6 dBc. Above 833 Hz, the third harmonic lies out of band while the second harmonic (HD2) remains below 121 dBc up to $f_s/2$. The measured intermodulation distortion (IMD) was 114.2 dB with -6bdBFs inputs operating at 789 Hz and 961Hz, as shown in Figure 4.18, limited by the APx555B, which only guarantees the IMD residual to be <110 dB. CT- $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs are also known to exhibit anti-alias filtering behavior, enabling them to filter out-of-band signals and avoid noise folding. This attribute was measured, and the results are shown in Figure 4.19 for a -33 dBFS (40 mV_{pp})



Figure 4.15. Measured ADC (a) spectrum with DEM, (b) spectrum without DEM, and (c)

dynamic range.



Figure 4.17. Harmonic distortion (HD2 and HD3) as a function of frequency.

input signal from f_s – BW to f_s + BW (BW = 2.5 kHz). The tone folded back in-band was measured, and the rejection in-band was ~42 dB. This is lower than a 3rd-order CIFB structure due to the feedforward paths. The anti-alias filtering is also reduced by the dead-band switch at the input, which operates at f_s and demodulates part of the signal back in-band before the loop can filter it out [40]. It should be noted that with an OSR of 80, adding a 1st-order low-pass filter at the input would provide an extra 38 dB of filtering at f_s , bringing the total to 80 dB.



Figure 4.19. Measured alias rejection with a -33 dBFS input tone around fs.

4.4.2 Robustness to Variation

Achieving robust performance with a VCO-based ADC is a well-known challenge due to its open-loop nature and the coefficients set by G_m and K_{CCO} (1), which are notoriously sensitive to process, voltage, and temperature (PVT) variation. This sensitivity can cause the loop coefficients to vary significantly with temperature and process. This was partially addressed in the system's design, where a constant- G_m biasing circuit was used to stabilize G_m , and current-starving the CCO guarantees a supply-independent swing. Simulations show that the loop coefficients vary by $\pm 10\%$



Figure 4.20. Measured ADC (a) PSRR and (b) CMRR.



Figure 4.21. Measured ADC SNDR across analog supply voltage.

with process and temperature (0-70 °C) and by less than 0.2 %/V with supply variation. As shown previously, f_{CCO} variation is also acceptable (provided $f_{CCO} > 2f_s$), minimally degrading the SQNR.

The loop coefficients were tuned manually to the correct operating point post-fabrication by controlling the current in the $G_{\rm m}$ -cell and the pulsed current sources. This robustness with supply voltage variation is shown in Figure 4.20, where the measured PSRR with a 100 mV_{pp} tone added



Figure 4.22. Measured SNDR and SFDR (*n* = 6 devices).



Figure 4.23. Measured SNR (blue) and SFDR (orange) as a function of temperature and simulated SFDR of chopping switch (orange dash).

to V_{DD} and the CMRR with a full-scale common-mode sinusoidal input stay above 80 dB from dc to 5 kHz. The SNDR was also measured as a function of the supply voltage from 0.7-1 V, as shown in Figure 4.21, where the performance varied by less than 1 dB between 0.75-0.95 V,



Figure 4.24. Measured output spectra with no input at 0, 20, and 70 °C.

demonstrating the ADC's robustness. The steep degradation at higher supply voltages is due to the CCO level-shifters failing and missing edges.

To assess the performance variation of the ADC across different die, the loop parameters were optimized for a specific device (Device #3), and then the same control bits were used on the 5 other devices. Figure 4.22 shows the measured SNDR and SFDR, where the average SNDR and SFDR were 90.7 dB and 119.5 dB, respectively. Optimizing the loop parameters separately for each device exhibited a 1 dB improvement in performance. This shows good performance across multiple devices and the loop's reliability across process variation and mismatch.

The ADC's temperature resilience was characterized across the commercial range (0 to 70 °C) by placing the device in a temperature chamber (Test Equity model 106) without any calibration or retuning of the loop parameters. As shown in Figure 4.23, the SNR varies negligibly, by only 1 dB, across the entire temperature range, demonstrating the robustness of the proposed design. The linearity stays above 117 dB for temperatures below 50 °C but degrades significantly at higher temperatures. This degradation with temperature was verified in simulation and found to be caused by leakage of the bootstrapped voltage circuit that drives the input chopping switches. The gate

| | JSSC | VLSI | JSSC | ISSCC | JSSC | JSSC | ISSCC | This Work |
|--------------------------------|----------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|----------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|----------------|-----------------------|
| | 2018 [40] | 2021 [54] | 2020 [69] | 2022[81] | 2019 [10] | 2021 [39] | 2021 [53] | |
| Integration domain | Voltage | Voltage | Hybrid | Hybrid | Time | Time | Time | Time |
| Topology | 3^{rd} -ord. | 3 rd -ord. | 2 nd -ord. | 2^{nd} -ord. | 1 st -ord. | 1 st -ord. | 2^{nd} -ord. | 3 rd -ord. |
| Technology [nm] | 65 | 28 | 65 | 65 | 40 | 65 | 65 | 65 |
| Area [mm ²] | 0.053 | 0.12 | 0.078 | 0.108 | 0.025 | 0.075 | 0.075 | 0.1 |
| Supply (A/D) [V] | 1.2 | 0.6 | 1 | 0.7 | 0.8 / 0.6 | 0.8 | 1.2 / 0.8 | 0.8 |
| Power [µW] | 4.5 | 33.6 | 6.5 | 5 | 4.5 | 1.68 | 5.8 | 4.4 |
| DAC type | Capacitive | Resistive | Resistive | Capacitive | Capacitive | Capacitive | Capacitive | Capacitive |
| Input range [V _{pp}] | 1.77 | 0.8 | 0.3 | 0.56 | 0.1 | 0.46 | 0.4 | 1.8 |
| Sampling freq. [kHz] | 400 | 12,800 | 1,280 | 2,560 | 2,500 | 64 | 200 | 400 |
| BW [kHz] | 5 | 40 | 10 | 10 | 10 | 0.5 | 1 | 2.5 |
| CMRR [dB] | N/A | 55 | 76 | 88 | 83 | 97 | 89 | 80-93 |
| SNDR [dB] | 93.5 | 83 | 80.4 | 85.1 | 78.5 | 94.2 | 92.3 | 92.1 |
| DR [dB] | 96.5 | 86.5 | 81 | 87.3 | 79 | 95.1 | 92.3 | 92.1 |
| SFDR [dB] | 101.4 | 94.2 | 92.2 | 97.1 | 91 | 128 | 110.3 | 119.6 - 123 |
| FoMsndr [dB] | 184 | 173.8 | 172.3 | 178.1 | 172 | 178.9 | 174.7 | 179.6 |

Table 4.1 Performance summary and comparison to the state-of-the-art

voltage drops below the maximum input voltage, which causes nonlinearity due to leakage through the chopping switches. The simulated chopping switch SFDR (all other blocks are ideal) is overlaid on the measured SFDR, exhibiting good agreement between simulation and measurement. This degradation could be avoided by increasing the bootstrapping capacitor to ensure a constant voltage, even at higher temperatures. Finally, to demonstrate the correct operation of the loop across temperature, spectra were recorded with shorted inputs at 0, 20, and 70 °C. As seen in Figure 4.24, the 3rd-order noise shaping is maintained, and the noise floor stays nearly constant across the temperature range.

4.4.3 Comparison to the State-of-the-Art

Table 4.1 compares recently published high-performance time- and voltage-domain ADCs. This work is the first 3^{rd} -order VCO-only ADC enabling low supply operation and high DR. The DAC reference voltage was increased to 1.2 V to maximize the input range and allow a large differential swing of 1.8 V_{pp}. When operating the DAC at 0.8 V, the SNDR decreases by 2 dB, and the



Figure 4.25. State-of-the-art landscape.

maximum differential input range decreases to 1.2 V_{pp}. The SNDR does not decrease by the expected 3.5 dB since the ADC noise is dominated by the CDAC mismatch, not the thermal noise. The reduced swing at the PVG due to the smaller reference voltage also allows for a more aggressive g_m/I_D in the first integrator. Due to the PVG-FF technique, extremely high linearity (>119.6 dB) and SNDR (92.1 dB) were achieved while consuming just 4.4 μ W. As apparent from the table, the performance of the proposed $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC approaches that of voltage-domain $\Delta\Sigma$ modulators and achieves the highest Schreier FoM amongst time-domain architectures. Figure 4.25 plots the Schreier FoM (FoM_{S,SNDR}) of ADCs with bandwidths below 50 kHz as a function of their Nyquist frequency ($f_{s,nyq}$). The proposed ADC significantly advances the state-of-the-art.

4.5 Conclusion

This work demonstrates a feedforward technique that enables a highly efficient 3^{rd} -order VCO-only ADC by linearizing the 1^{st} integrator and removing the need for inner feedback DACs. The ADC structure is robust, maintaining performance over a wide temperature and supply voltage range. This PVG FF technique can be generalized to higher-order architectures or used with other open-loop integrators, such as a G_m -C, which would also benefit from the linearization and improved coefficient scaling offered by the PVG-FF technique. The proposed ADC is the first high linearity single loop 3^{rd} -order ADC with time-only integrators, and it achieves a state-of-the-art 179.6 dB FoM among VCO-based ADCs and a 123 dB peak SFDR while operating from a low supply voltage. This work demonstrates that time-based modulators are competitive with standard voltage-domain architectures.

Acknowledgments

Chapter 4, in full, is a reprint of the material as it appears in C. Pochet and D. A. Hall, "A Pseudo-Virtual Ground Feedforwarding Technique Enabling Linearization and Higher Order Noise Shaping in VCO-Based $\Delta\Sigma$ Modulators," in *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits (JSSC)*, vol. 57, no. 12, pp. 3746-3756, Dec. 2022, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2022.3202040. The dissertation author was the primary investigator and author of this paper.

CHAPTER 5 : SUMMARY

5.1 Summary of Dissertation

This dissertation presented several innovations at the circuit and system level to improve the efficiency and performance of time-based ADCs. These innovations allowed for the development of multiple VCO-based ADCs with >100 dB linearity and state-of-the-art performance. This section summarizes this thesis's findings and each prototype's key results.

Chapter 2 provides the reader with an introduction to the basics of time-based analog-todigital converters. The advantages of time-based architectures over voltage-based ADCs, such as supply insensitivity and better scaling with process nodes, are highlighted, and the challenges of achieving high SNDR with time-based ADCs are demonstrated. A literature review was conducted, and different techniques described in the literature to address the limited linearity and noise-shaping order of the VCO-based ADCs were also presented.

In Chapter 3, a direct digitization AFE for ExG application is introduced. At the core of the AFE is a single loop 2nd-order VCO-based ADC, which leverages a novel 1st-order shaped TDC with a 3-state gated-inverted ring oscillator to achieve very high linearity while being very power-efficient. When integrating this ADC with an input-impedance booster, the proposed AFE achieves the very high input impedance required to interface with electrodes, low noise, and a high input range and linearity required to absorb motion/stimulation artifacts.

In Chapter 4, A technique to stabilize and linearize higher-order delta-sigma ADCs is presented and applied to a 3rd-order VCO-based ADC. This technique, pseudo-virtual ground feedforwarding, reduces the signal's tonality in the 1st stage of the loop and allows the prototype ADC to achieve state-of-the-art power efficiency and linearity amongst time-based ADCs.



Figure 5.1. State-of-the-art landscape in (a) 2016 and (b) 2022

Overall, the techniques presented in this thesis were key to significantly improving the performance of time-based ADC, with the final prototype demonstrating that VCO-based ADCs could be designed to achieve performance on par with standard voltage domain architectures.

5.2 Evolution of the VCO-based ADCs throughout this work

To highlight the contributions of this thesis, it is interesting to observe the evolution of the performance of VCO-based ADCs during the time frame of this research project (2016-2022). To this end, we use the well-known Murmann ADC survey [82] as well as a collection of work published in highly regarded venues (*JSSC*, *TCASI*, *TCASII*) to map the state of ADC research for sub-MegaHertz Nyquist frequency throughout the years. As illustrated in Figure 5.1(a), the VCO-based ADCs in 2016, while possessing interesting features of time-based architectures, were far from equaling the performance of standard voltage domain architecture with over $10 \times$ higher power dissipation for similar noise/dynamic range performance. Figure 5.1(b) is updated with designs published between 2017 and 2022, and the works presented in this thesis are highlighted. Two remarkable observations can be made: first, the number of VCO-based ADCs has greatly increased with over 15 new time-based designs. Second, the gap between the best-in-class VCO-

based ADC and the best-in-class voltage domain ADC has significantly shrunk to < 4 dB. These observations show the tremendous increase in interest in time-based ADC by the academic community and the effort by researchers to improve the linearity and power efficiency of time-based ADCs.

5.3 Areas of future work

The contributions made in this thesis to higher-order VCO-based ADCs can be expanded in several ways. The ADCs presented in this dissertation have been targeted at sensor applications with bandwidth limited below 10 kHz. While this is sufficient for most sensor applications, there is also interest in quantizing signals with wider bandwidth (>100 kHz) for a wide range of applications. As the bandwidth is increased, the clock frequency of the ADCs must be increased, which reduces the settling time for the inner nodes of the quantizer and requires longer relative resampling times (*e.g.*, on the order of $0.5T_s$). These longer resampling times will require excess loop delay (ELD) compensation techniques to be developed and added to the loop through additional feedback/feedforward paths. Implementing these ELD paths in VCO-based ADC is more complex than in standard voltage domain architecture due to the integrator and the quantizer being merged and thus not having direct access to the quantizer needed for ELD compensation [83]. Investigating ELD techniques that could be adapted to VCO-based ADCs would be interesting.

Another potential area for future work could be to expand on the PVG-FF technique and add resonance paths to achieve more efficient noise-shaping by moving the poles of the NTF poles away from dc. This could further improve the ADC's efficiency by improving the noise shaping. It could be interesting to explore the use of time domain feedforwarding and feedback using voltage-controlled delay cells and digital-to-time converters, which have also seen significant development in the past decades. These time-based blocks could add delay in the loop and further highlight the need for research in time-based delay compensation techniques suggested in the previous paragraph.

REFERENCES

- P. R. Kinget, "Scaling analog circuits into deep nanoscale CMOS: Obstacles and ways to overcome them," in 2015 IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC), Sep. 2015, pp. 1–8. doi: 10.1109/CICC.2015.7338394.
- [2] A. C. Sun, E. Alvarez-Fontecilla, A. G. Venkatesh, E. Aronoff-Spencer, and D. A. Hall, "High-Density Redox Amplified Coulostatic Discharge-Based Biosensor Array," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 53, no. 7, pp. 2054–2064, Jul. 2018, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2018.2820705.
- [3] D. A. Hall, R. S. Gaster, K. A. A. Makinwa, S. X. Wang, and B. Murmann, "A 256 Pixel Magnetoresistive Biosensor Microarray in 0.18 µm CMOS," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 48, no. 5, pp. 1290–1301, May 2013, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2013.2245058.
- [4] S. Mondal, C.-L. Hsu, R. Jafari, and D. Hall, "A dynamically reconfigurable ECG analog front-end with a 2.5 × data-dependent power reduction," in 2017 IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC), Austin, TX: IEEE, Apr. 2017, pp. 1–4. doi: 10.1109/CICC.2017.7993705.
- [5] S. Kalani, T. Haque, R. Gupta, and P. R. Kinget, "Benefits of Using VCO-OTAs to Construct TIAs in Wideband Current-Mode Receivers Over Inverter-Based OTAs," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, vol. 66, no. 5, pp. 1681–1691, May 2019, doi: 10.1109/TCSI.2018.2883711.
- [6] S. Kalani and P. R. Kinget, "Zero-Crossing-Time-Difference Model for Stability Analysis of VCO-Based OTAs," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, vol. 67, no. 3, pp. 839–851, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1109/TCSI.2019.2954833.

- [7] Z. Dai, S. Gupta, S. Kalani, and P. R. Kinget, "3.7µW 0.8V VCO-integrator-based highefficiency capacitor-free low-dropout voltage regulator," in 2016 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS), May 2016, pp. 498–501. doi: 10.1109/ISCAS.2016.7527286.
- [8] B. Drost, M. Talegaonkar, and P. K. Hanumolu, "Analog Filter Design Using Ring Oscillator Integrators," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 47, no. 12, pp. 3120– 3129, Dec. 2012, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2012.2225738.
- [9] G. Taylor and I. Galton, "A Reconfigurable Mostly-Digital Delta-Sigma ADC With a Worst-Case FOM of 160 dB," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 983– 995, Apr. 2013, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2013.2239113.
- [10] W. Zhao, S. Li, B. Xu, X. Yang, X. Tang, L. Shen, N. Lu, D. Z. Pan, and N. Sun, "A 0.025-mm² 0.8-V 78.5-dB SNDR VCO-Based Sensor Readout Circuit in a Hybrid PLL-Δ ΣM Structure," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, pp. 1–14, 2019, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2019.2959479.
- [11] "Understanding Delta-Sigma Data Converters | IEEE eBooks | IEEE Xplore." Accessed: Aug. 01, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/book/5264508
- [12] C. Pochet, J. Huang, P. Mercier, and D. Hall, "A 174.7-dB FoM, 2nd -Order VCO-Based ExG-to-Digital Front-End Using a Multi-Phase Gated-Inverted-Ring Oscillator Quantizer," *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Circuits Syst.*, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 1283–1294, Dec. 2021, doi: 10.1109/TBCAS.2021.3133531.
- [13] G. Taylor and I. Galton, "A Reconfigurable Mostly-Digital Delta-Sigma ADC With a Worst-Case FOM of 160 dB," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 983– 995, Apr. 2013, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2013.2239113.

- [14] Y. Zhong, S. Li, X. Tang, L. Shen, W. Zhao, S. Wu, and N. Sun, "A Second-Order Purely VCO-Based CT ΔΣ ADC Using a Modified DPLL Structure in 40-nm CMOS," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, pp. 1–13, 2019, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2019.2948008.
- [15] V. Dhanasekaran, M. Gambhir, M. M. Elsayed, E. Sanchez-Sinencio, J. Silva-Martinez, C. Mishra, L. Chen, and E. J. Pankratz, "A Continuous Time Multi-Bit ΔΣ ADC Using Time Domain Quantizer and Feedback Element," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 46, no. 3, pp. 639–650, Mar. 2011, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2010.2099893.
- [16] K. Reddy, S. Dey, S. Rao, B. Young, P. Prabha, and P. K. Hanumolu, "A 54mW 1.2GS/s 71.5dB SNDR 50MHz BW VCO-based CT ΔΣ ADC using dual phase/frequency feedback in 65nm CMOS," in 2015 Symposium on VLSI Circuits (VLSI Circuits), Jun. 2015, pp. C256–C257. doi: 10.1109/VLSIC.2015.7231278.
- [17] K. Reddy, S. Rao, R. Inti, B. Young, A. Elshazly, M. Talegaonkar, and P. K. Hanumolu, "A 16-mW 78-dB SNDR 10-MHz BW CTΔΣ ADC Using Residue-Cancelling VCO-Based Quantizer," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 47, no. 12, pp. 2916–2927, Dec. 2012, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2012.2218062.
- [18] E. Gutierrez, P. Rombouts, and L. Hernandez, "Why and How VCO-based ADCs can improve instrumentation applications," in 2018 25th IEEE International Conference on Electronics, Circuits and Systems (ICECS), Bordeaux: IEEE, Dec. 2018, pp. 101–104. doi: 10.1109/ICECS.2018.8618004.
- [19] W. Jiang, V. Hokhikyan, H. Chandrakumar, V. Karkare, and D. Markovic, "A ±50-mV Linear-Input-Range VCO-Based Neural-Recording Front-End With Digital Nonlinearity Correction," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 173–184, Jan. 2017, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2016.2624989.

- [20] S. Li, W. Zhao, B. Xu, X. Yang, X. Tang, L. Shen, N. Lu, D. Z. Pan, and N. Sun, "A 0.025-mm2 0.8-V 78.5dB-SNDR VCO-Based Sensor Readout Circuit in a Hybrid PLL-ΔΣM Structure," in 2019 IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC), Apr. 2019, pp. 1–3. doi: 10.1109/CICC.2019.8780175.
- [21] H. Jeon, J. Bang, Y. Jung, I. Choi, and M. Je, "A High DR, DC-Coupled, Time-Based Neural-Recording IC With Degeneration R-DAC for Bidirectional Neural Interface," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 54, no. 10, pp. 2658–2670, Oct. 2019, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2019.2930903.
- [22] C. Lee, T. Jeon, M. Jang, S. Park, J. Kim, J. Lim, J.-H. Ahn, Y. Huh, and Y. Chae, "A 6.5µW 10-kHz BW 80.4-dB SNDR G_m-C-Based CT ΔΣ Modulator With a Feedback-Assisted G_m Linearization for Artifact-Tolerant Neural Recording," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, pp. 1–1, 2020, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2020.3018478.
- [23] C. Tu, Y. Wang, and T. Lin, "A 0.06mm2± 50mV range -82dB THD chopper VCO-based sensor readout circuit in 40nm CMOS," in 2017 Symposium on VLSI Circuits, Jun. 2017, pp. C84–C85. doi: 10.23919/VLSIC.2017.8008558.
- [24] J. Huang and P. P. Mercier, "A 112-dB SFDR 89-dB SNDR VCO-Based Sensor Front-End Enabled by Background-Calibrated Differential Pulse Code Modulation," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 56, no. 4, pp. 1046–1057, Apr. 2021, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2020.3037833.
- [25] X. Yang, J. Xu, H. Chun, M. Ballini, M. Zhao, X. Wu, C. V. Hoof, and N. V. Helleputte, "A 108dB DR Hybrid-CTDT Direct-Digitalization ΔΣ-ΣM Front-End with 720mVpp Input Range and >300mV Offset Removal for Wearable Bio-Signal Recording," in 2019

Symposium on VLSI Circuits, Jun. 2019, pp. C296–C297. doi:

10.23919/VLSIC.2019.8778185.

- [26] S. Mondal and D. A. Hall, "A 13.9-nA ECG Amplifier Achieving 0.86/0.99 NEF/PEF
 Using AC-Coupled OTA-Stacking," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 55, no. 2, pp. 414–425, Feb. 2020, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2019.2957193.
- [27] Y. Zheng, X. Ding, C. C. Y. Poon, B. P. L. Lo, H. Zhang, X. Zhou, G. Yang, N. Zhao, and Y. Zhang, "Unobtrusive Sensing and Wearable Devices for Health Informatics," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 61, no. 5, pp. 1538–1554, May 2014, doi: 10.1109/TBME.2014.2309951.
- [28] J. Andreu-Perez, D. R. Leff, H. M. D. Ip, and G. Yang, "From Wearable Sensors to Smart Implants--Toward Pervasive and Personalized Healthcare," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 62, no. 12, pp. 2750–2762, Dec. 2015, doi: 10.1109/TBME.2015.2422751.
- [29] J. Warchall, P. Theilmann, Y. Ouyang, H. Garudadri, and P. P. Mercier, "Robust Biopotential Acquisition via a Distributed Multi-Channel FM-ADC," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Circuits and Systems*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 1229–1242, Dec. 2019, doi: 10.1109/TBCAS.2019.2941846.
- [30] S. Lee, L. Yan, T. Roh, S. Hong, and H. Yoo, "A 75 μ W Real-Time Scalable Body Area Network Controller and a 25 μW ExG Sensor IC for Compact Sleep Monitoring Applications," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 323–334, Jan. 2012, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2011.2170636.

- [31] A. Searle and L. Kirkup, "A direct comparison of wet, dry and insulating bioelectric recording electrodes," *Physiol. Meas.*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 271–283, May 2000, doi: 10.1088/0967-3334/21/2/307.
- [32] G. Li, S. Wang, and Y. Y. Duan, "Towards gel-free electrodes: A systematic study of electrode-skin impedance," *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, vol. 241, pp. 1244–1255, Mar. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.snb.2016.10.005.
- [33] H. Chandrakumar and D. Markovic, "An 80-mVpp Linear-Input Range, 1.6-GΩ Input Impedance, Low-Power Chopper Amplifier for Closed-Loop Neural Recording That Is Tolerant to 650-mVpp Common-Mode Interference," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, pp. 1–18, 2017, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2017.2753824.
- [34] D. Seok, S. Lee, M. Kim, J. Cho, and C. Kim, "Motion Artifact Removal Techniques for Wearable EEG and PPG Sensor Systems," *Frontiers in Electronics*, vol. 2, p. 4, 2021, doi: 10.3389/felec.2021.685513.
- [35] X. Jiang, G.-B. Bian, and Z. Tian, "Removal of Artifacts from EEG Signals: A Review," Sensors (Basel), vol. 19, no. 5, p. 987, Feb. 2019, doi: 10.3390/s19050987.
- [36] H. Kassiri, M. T. Salam, M. R. Pazhouhandeh, N. Soltani, J. L. Perez Velazquez, P. Carlen, and R. Genov, "Rail-to-Rail-Input Dual-Radio 64-Channel Closed-Loop Neurostimulator," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 52, no. 11, pp. 2793–2810, Nov. 2017, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2017.2749426.
- [37] C. Kim, S. Joshi, H. Courellis, J. Wang, C. Miller, and G. Cauwenberghs, "Sub- μ Vrms-Noise Sub- μ W/Channel ADC-Direct Neural Recording With 200-mV/ms Transient Recovery Through Predictive Digital Autoranging," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 53, no. 11, pp. 3101–3110, Nov. 2018, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2018.2870555.

- [38] M. Reza Pazhouhandeh, M. Chang, T. A. Valiante, and R. Genov, "Track-and-Zoom Neural Analog-to-Digital Converter With Blind Stimulation Artifact Rejection," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 55, no. 7, pp. 1984–1997, Jul. 2020, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2020.2991526.
- [39] J. Huang and P. P. Mercier, "28.1 A Distortion-Free VCO-Based Sensor-to-Digital Front-End Achieving 178.9dB FoM and 128dB SFDR with a Calibration-Free Differential Pulse-Code Modulation Technique," in 2021 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), Feb. 2021, pp. 386–388. doi: 10.1109/ISSCC42613.2021.9365950.
- [40] H. Chandrakumar and D. Marković, "A 15.2-ENOB 5-kHz BW 4.5- μ W Chopped CT ΔΣ -ADC for Artifact-Tolerant Neural Recording Front Ends," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 53, no. 12, pp. 3470–3483, Dec. 2018, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2018.2876468.
- [41] J.-S. Bang, H. Jeon, M. Je, and G.-H. Cho, "A 6.5µW 92.3dB-DR Biopotential-Recording Front-End with 360mVpp Linear Input Range," *Symposium on VLSI Circuits Digest of Technical Papers*, p. 2, 2018.
- [42] Y. Zhong, S. Li, X. Tang, L. Shen, W. Zhao, S. Wu, and N. Sun, "A Second-Order Purely VCO-Based CT ΔΣ ADC Using a Modified DPLL Structure in 40-nm CMOS," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 55, no. 2, pp. 356–368, Feb. 2020, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2019.2948008.
- [43] A. Jayaraj, M. Danesh, S. T. Chandrasekaran, and A. Sanyal, "Highly Digital Second-Order \$\Delta\Sigma\$ VCO ADC," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I*, vol. 66, no. 7, pp. 2415–2425, Jul. 2019, doi: 10.1109/TCSI.2019.2898415.
- [44] A. Jayaraj, M. Danesh, S. T. Chandrasekaran, and A. Sanyal, "76-dB DR, 48 fJ/Step Second-Order VCO-Based Current-to-Digital Converter," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits*

and Systems I: Regular Papers, vol. 67, no. 4, pp. 1149–1157, Apr. 2020, doi: 10.1109/TCSI.2019.2941956.

- [45] A. Elshazly, S. Rao, B. Young, and P. K. Hanumolu, "A Noise-Shaping Time-to-Digital Converter Using Switched-Ring Oscillators—Analysis, Design, and Measurement Techniques," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 49, no. 5, pp. 1184–1197, May 2014, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2014.2305651.
- [46] M. Z. Straayer and M. H. Perrott, "A Multi-Path Gated Ring Oscillator TDC With First-Order Noise Shaping," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 1089–1098, Apr. 2009, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2009.2014709.
- [47] X. Yi, Z. Liang, C. C. Boon, G. Feng, F. Meng, and K. Yang, "An Inverted Ring Oscillator Noise-Shaping Time-to-Digital Converter With In-Band Noise Reduction and Coherent Noise Cancellation," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, vol. 67, no. 2, pp. 686–698, Feb. 2020, doi: 10.1109/TCSI.2019.2949732.
- [48] C.-W. Yao, R. Ni, C. Lau, W. Wu, K. Godbole, Y. Zuo, S. Ko, N.-S. Kim, S. Han, I. Jo, J. Lee, J. Han, D. Kwon, C. Kim, S. Kim, S. W. Son, and T. B. Cho, "A 14-nm 0.14-psrms Fractional-N Digital PLL With a 0.2-ps Resolution ADC-Assisted Coarse/Fine-Conversion Chopping TDC and TDC Nonlinearity Calibration," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 52, no. 12, pp. 3446–3457, Dec. 2017, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2017.2742518.
- [49] S. T. Chandrasekaran and A. Sanyal, "Stochastic ΔΣ VCO-ADC Utilizing 4× Staggered Averaging," in 2020 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS), Oct. 2020, pp. 1–5. doi: 10.1109/ISCAS45731.2020.9180835.

- [50] M. J. M. Pelgrom, A. C. J. Duinmaijer, and A. P. G. Welbers, "Matching properties of MOS transistors," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 24, no. 5, pp. 1433–1439, Oct. 1989, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.1989.572629.
- [51] A. Sheikholeslami, "Process Variation and Pelgrom's Law [Circuit Intuitions]," IEEE Solid-State Circuits Mag., vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 8–9, 2015, doi: 10.1109/MSSC.2014.2369331.
- [52] H. Omran, H. Alahmadi, and K. N. Salama, "Matching Properties of Femtofarad and Sub-Femtofarad MOM Capacitors," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, vol. 63, no. 6, pp. 763–772, Jun. 2016, doi: 10.1109/TCSI.2016.2537824.
- [53] C. Pochet, J. Huang, P. P. Mercier, and D. A. Hall, "28.4 A 400mVpp 92.3 dB-SNDR 1kHz-BW 2nd-Order VCO-Based ExG-to-Digital Front-End Using a Multiphase Gated-Inverted Ring-Oscillator Quantizer," in 2021 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), Feb. 2021, pp. 392–394. doi: 10.1109/ISSCC42613.2021.9365985.
- [54] S. Lee, S. Park, Y. Kim, and Y. Chae, "A 0.6V 86.5dB-DR 40kHz-BW Inverter-Based Continuous-Time Delta-Sigma Modulator with PVT-Robust Body-Biasing Technique," in 2021 Symposium on VLSI Circuits, Jun. 2021, pp. 1–2. doi:

10.23919/VLSICircuits52068.2021.9492519.

- [55] P. C. C. de Aguirre and A. A. Susin, "A 0.6-V, 74.2-dB DR Continuous-Time Sigma–Delta Modulator With Inverter-Based Amplifiers," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems II: Express Briefs*, vol. 65, no. 10, pp. 1310–1314, Oct. 2018, doi: 10.1109/TCSII.2018.2853088.
- [56] H. Luo, Y. Han, R. C. C. Cheung, X. Liu, and T. Cao, "A 0.8-V 230-µW 98-dB DR Inverter-Based ΣΔ Modulator for Audio Applications," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 48, no. 10, pp. 2430–2441, Oct. 2013, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2013.2275659.

- [57] L. Lv, A. Jain, X. Zhou, J. Becker, Q. Li, and M. Ortmanns, "A 0.4-V Gm-C Proportional-Integrator-Based Continuous-Time ΔΣ Modulator With 50-kHz BW and 74.4-dB SNDR," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 53, no. 11, pp. 3256–3267, Nov. 2018, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2018.2866084.
- [58] B. Drost, M. Talegaonkar, and P. K. Hanumolu, "Analog Filter Design Using Ring Oscillator Integrators," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 47, no. 12, pp. 3120– 3129, Dec. 2012, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2012.2225738.
- [59] L. B. Leene and T. G. Constandinou, "Time Domain Processing Techniques Using Ring Oscillator-Based Filter Structures," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, vol. 64, no. 12, pp. 3003–3012, Dec. 2017, doi: 10.1109/TCSI.2017.2715885.
- [60] H. Osman and E. S.-S. Life, "A PVT-Resilient, Highly-Linear Fifth-Order Ring-Oscillator-Based Filter," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, vol. 67, no. 12, pp. 4295–4308, Dec. 2020, doi: 10.1109/TCSI.2020.3012561.
- [61] J. Kim, T. Jang, Y. Yoon, and S. Cho, "Analysis and Design of Voltage-Controlled Oscillator Based Analog-to-Digital Converter," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, vol. 57, no. 1, pp. 18–30, Jan. 2010, doi: 10.1109/TCSI.2009.2018928.
- [62] Y. Zhong, S. Li, X. Tang, L. Shen, W. Zhao, S. Wu, and N. Sun, "A Second-Order Purely VCO-Based CT ΔΣ ADC Using a Modified DPLL Structure in 40-nm CMOS," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, pp. 1–13, 2019, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2019.2948008.
- [63] S. Dey, K. Mayaram, and T. Fiez, "A 12 MHz BW, 80 dB SNDR, 83 dB DR, 4th order CT-ΔΣ modulator with 2nd order noise-shaping and pipelined SAR-VCO based quantizer," in 2019 IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC), Apr. 2019, pp. 1–4. doi: 10.1109/CICC.2019.8780200.

- [64] M. Park and M. H. Perrott, "A 78 dB SNDR 87 mW 20 MHz Bandwidth Continuous-Time ΔΣ ADC With VCO-Based Integrator and Quantizer Implemented in 0.13 µm CMOS,"
 IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 44, no. 12, pp. 3344–3358, Dec. 2009, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2009.2032703.
- [65] M. Z. Straayer and M. H. Perrott, "A 12-Bit, 10-MHz Bandwidth, Continuous-Time ΣΔ ADC With a 5-Bit, 950-MS/s VCO-Based Quantizer," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 43, no. 4, pp. 805–814, Apr. 2008, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2008.917500.
- [66] J. Huang and P. P. Mercier, "A 178.9-dB FoM 128-dB SFDR VCO-Based AFE for ExG Readouts With a Calibration-Free Differential Pulse Code Modulation Technique," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 56, no. 11, pp. 3236–3246, Nov. 2021, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2021.3112635.
- [67] W. Jiang, V. Hokhikyan, H. Chandrakumar, V. Karkare, and D. Markovic, "A ±50-mV Linear-Input-Range VCO-Based Neural-Recording Front-End With Digital Nonlinearity Correction," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 173–184, Jan. 2017, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2016.2624989.
- [68] C.-C. Tu, Y.-K. Wang, and T.-H. Lin, "A Low-Noise Area-Efficient Chopped VCO-Based CTDSM for Sensor Applications in 40-nm CMOS," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 52, no. 10, pp. 2523–2532, Oct. 2017, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2017.2724025.
- [69] C. Lee, T. Jeon, M. Jang, S. Park, J. Kim, J. Lim, J.-H. Ahn, Y. Huh, and Y. Chae, "A 6.5µW 10-kHz BW 80.4-dB SNDR G_m-C-Based CT ΔΣ Modulator With a Feedback-Assisted G_m Linearization for Artifact-Tolerant Neural Recording," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, pp. 1–1, 2020, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2020.3018478.

- [70] B. Young, K. Reddy, S. Rao, A. Elshazly, T. Anand, and P. K. Hanumolu, "A 75dB DR 50MHz BW 3rd order CT-ΔΣ modulator using VCO-based integrators," in 2014 Symposium on VLSI Circuits Digest of Technical Papers, Jun. 2014, pp. 1–2. doi: 10.1109/VLSIC.2014.6858395.
- [71] S. Dey, K. Reddy, K. Mayaram, and T. S. Fiez, "A 50 MHz BW 76.1 dB DR Two-Stage Continuous-Time Delta–Sigma Modulator With VCO Quantizer Nonlinearity Cancellation," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 53, no. 3, pp. 799–813, Mar. 2018, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2017.2777455.
- [72] A. Babaie-Fishani and P. Rombouts, "A Mostly Digital VCO-Based CT-SDM With Third-Order Noise Shaping," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 52, no. 8, pp. 2141–2153, Aug. 2017, doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2017.2688364.
- [73] C. Pochet and D. A. Hall, "A 4.4µW 2.5kHz-BW 92.1dB-SNDR 3rd-Order VCO-Based ADC With Pseudo Virtual Ground Feedforward Linearization," in 2022 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), Feb. 2022, pp. 408–410. doi: 10.1109/ISSCC42614.2022.9731549.
- [74] S. Pavan, "Understanding weak loop filter nonlinearities in continuous time ΔΣ converters," in *Proceedings of 2010 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems*, May 2010, pp. 17–20. doi: 10.1109/ISCAS.2010.5537136.
- [75] J. Silva, U. Moon, J. Steensgaard, and G. C. Temes, "Wideband low-distortion delta-sigma ADC topology," *Electron. Lett.*, vol. 37, no. 12, p. 737, 2001, doi: 10.1049/el:20010542.
- [76] A. Jayaraj, M. Danesh, S. T. Chandrasekaran, and A. Sanyal, "Highly Digital Second-Order ΔΣ VCO ADC," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I*, vol. 66, no. 7, pp. 2415–2425, Jul. 2019, doi: 10.1109/TCSI.2019.2898415.

- [77] C. Pochet, J. Huang, P. P. Mercier, and D. A. Hall, "28.4 A 400mVpp 92.3 dB-SNDR 1kHz-BW 2nd-Order VCO-Based ExG-to-Digital Front-End Using a Multiphase Gated-Inverted Ring-Oscillator Quantizer," in 2021 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), Feb. 2021, pp. 392–394. doi: 10.1109/ISSCC42613.2021.9365985.
- [78] R. Theertham and S. Pavan, "Unified Analysis, Modeling, and Simulation of Chopping Artifacts in Continuous-Time Delta-Sigma Modulators," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits* and Systems I: Regular Papers, vol. 66, no. 8, pp. 2831–2842, Aug. 2019, doi: 10.1109/TCSI.2019.2907167.
- [79] Kok Lim Chan, N. Rakuljic, and I. Galton, "Segmented Dynamic Element Matching for High-Resolution Digital-to-Analog Conversion," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I*, vol. 55, no. 11, pp. 3383–3392, Dec. 2008, doi: 10.1109/TCSI.2008.2001757.
- [80] A. van den Bosch, M. Steyaert, and W. Sansen, "SFDR-bandwidth limitations for high speed high resolution current steering CMOS D/A converters," in *ICECS*'99. Proceedings of ICECS '99. 6th IEEE International Conference on Electronics, Circuits and Systems (Cat. No.99EX357), Sep. 1999, pp. 1193–1196 vol.3. doi: 10.1109/ICECS.1999.814383.
- [81] S. Lee, Y. Choi, G. Kim, S. Baik, T. Seol, H. Jang, D. Lee, M. Je, J.-W. Choi, A. K. George, and J. Lee, "A 0.7V 17fJ/Step-FOMW 178.1dB-FOMSNDR 10kHz-BW 560mVPP True-ExG Biopotential Acquisition System with Parasitic-Insensitive 421MΩ Input Impedance in 0.18µm CMOS," in 2022 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), Feb. 2022, pp. 336–338. doi: 10.1109/ISSCC42614.2022.9731114.
- [82] "Boris Murmann: ADC Survey." Accessed: Aug. 22, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://web.stanford.edu/~murmann/adcsurvey.html

[83] M. Keller, A. Buhmann, J. Sauerbrey, M. Ortmanns, and Y. Manoli, "A Comparative Study on Excess-Loop-Delay Compensation Techniques for Continuous-Time Sigma–Delta Modulators," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, vol. 55, no. 11, pp. 3480–3487, Dec. 2008, doi: 10.1109/TCSI.2008.925362.